

# The Australian Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications

AJMAA



Volume 6, Issue 1, Article 16, pp. 1-66, 2009

# APPLICATIONS OF RELATIONS AND RELATORS IN THE EXTENSIONS OF STABILITY THEOREMS FOR HOMOGENEOUS AND ADDITIVE FUNCTIONS

ÁRPÁD SZÁZ

Special Issue in Honor of the 100th Anniversary of S.M. Ulam

Received 16 December, 2008; accepted 21 January, 2009; published 4 September, 2009.

INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS UNIVERSITY OF DEBRECEN H-4010 DEBRECEN, PF. 12, HUNGARY szaz@math.klte.hu

ABSTRACT. By working out an appropriate technique of relations and relators and extending the ideas of the direct methods of Z. Gajda and R. Ger, we prove some generalizations of the stability theorems of D. H. Hyers, T. Aoki, Th. M. Rassias and P. Gavruţă in terms of the existence and unicity of 2–homogeneous and additive approximate selections of generalized subadditive relations of semigroups to vector relator spaces. Thus, we obtain generalizations not only of the selection theorems of Z. Gajda and R. Ger, but also those of the present author.

Key words and phrases: Relations and relators, Homogeneity and additivity properties, Selection and stability theorems.

2000 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 39B52, 39B82. Secondary 54C60, 54C65. Tertiary 46A19, 54E15.

ISSN (electronic): 1449-5910

<sup>© 2009</sup> Austral Internet Publishing. All rights reserved.

# CONTENTS

| 1.         | Introduction                                   | 3  |
|------------|--|----|
| 2.         | Relations and Functions                        | 6  |
| 3.         | Semigroups and Vector Spaces                   | 7  |
| 4.         | Additivity Properties of Relations             | 8  |
| 5.         | Further Results on Translation Relations       | 11 |
| 6.         | Homogeneity Properties of Relations            | 14 |
| 7.         | A Few Basic Facts on Relators                  | 16 |
| 8.         | Convergent and Adherent Sequences              | 18 |
| 9.         | Some Important Operations on Relators          | 20 |
| 10.        | Reflexive and Symmetric Relators               | 23 |
| 11.        | Transitive and Filtered Relators               | 25 |
| 12.        | Separated and Directed Relators                | 28 |
| 13.        | A Few Basic Facts on Vector Relators           | 30 |
| 14.        | Further Results on Sequences of Sets           | 33 |
| 15.        | The Associated Hyers Sequences                 | 35 |
| 16.        | Further Results on Hyers' Sequences            | 37 |
| 17.        | Approximately Subhomogeneous Relations         | 39 |
| 18.        | Further Results on Subhomogeneous Relations    | 42 |
| 19.        | Regular and Normal Relations                   | 44 |
| 20.        | An Approximate Selection Theorem               | 46 |
| 21.        | Further Simplifications in the Functional Case | 48 |
| 22.        | Approximately Subadditive Relations            | 51 |
| 23.        | Further Simplifications in the Functional Case | 54 |
| References |  | 55 |

### 1. INTRODUCTION

The first result on approximately additive functions was obtained by Pólya and Szegő [148, p. 17] who proved a somewhat different form of the following:

**Theorem 1.** If  $(a_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of real numbers such that

$$\|a_{n+m} - a_n - a_m\| \le 1$$

for all  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ , then there exists a real number  $\omega$  such that

$$\|a_n - \omega n\| \le 1$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Moreover,  $\omega = \lim_{n \to \infty} a_n/n$ .

**Remark 1.** This theorem has been overlooked by several authors, from Hyers [90] to Maligranda [120]. It was first mentioned by Kuczma [110, p. 424] at the suggestion of R. Ger.

By Ger [77, p. 4], his attention to Theorem 1 was first drawn by M. Laczkovich who indicated that the real-valued particular case of Hyers's stability theorem can be easily derived from Theorem 1. D. H. Hyers, giving a partial answer to a general question of S. M. Ulam, proved a different form of the following stability theorem. The proof given by Hyers is more simple than the one given by Pólya and Szegő.

**Theorem 2.** If f is an  $\varepsilon$ -approximately additive function of one Banach space X to another Y, for some  $\varepsilon \ge 0$ , in the sense that

$$\|f(x+y) - f(x) - f(y)\| \le \varepsilon$$

for all  $x, y \in X$ , then there exists an additive function g of X to Y such that

$$\|f(x) - g(x)\| \le \varepsilon$$

for all  $x \in X$ . Moreover,  $g(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(x)$  for all  $x \in X$ , where  $f_n(x) = 2^{-n} f(2^n x)$ .

**Remark 2.** In this case, because g(nx) = ng(x), we also have

$$\left\|\frac{1}{n}f(nx) - g(x)\right\| = \frac{1}{n}\left\|f(nx) - g(nx)\right\| \le \frac{1}{n}\varepsilon$$

for all  $x \in X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Therefore, in accordance with the result of Pólya and Szegő, we can also state that  $g(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f(nx)/n$  for all  $x \in X$ .

However, the sequence  $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  applied by Hyers is usually more convenient. For instance, it can also be used to prove a similar theorem for a function f of X to Y which is only  $\varepsilon$ -approximately 2-homogeneous in the sense that  $||f(2x) - 2f(x)|| \le \varepsilon$  for all  $x \in X$ . Moreover, it can also be shown that the Hyers sequence is actually rapidly uniformly convergent (see [212]).

Hyers's stability theorem has been generalized by several authors in various ways (see Hyers, Isac and Rassias [92]). For instance, Forti [53] remarked that for the majority of Hyers' theorem the domain X of f may be an arbitrary semigroup; only the additivity of the function g requires X to be commutative. Weaker sufficient conditions were also considered by Rätz [173] and Páles [136] (see also [223] and [233]). Moreover, Székelyhidi [216] noticed that the existence of an invariant mean is also sufficient.

Other general stability theorems, for additive and linear mappings, were also proved independently by Aoki [2] and Th. M. Rassias [157], respectively. They allowed the Cauchy difference f(x + y) - f(x) - f(y) to be unbounded to the extent that

$$||f(x+y) - f(x) - f(y)|| \le M(||x||^p + ||y||^p)$$

for all  $x, y \in X$  and some  $M \ge 0$  and  $0 \le p < 1$ . The paper of Aoki was overlooked from Bourgin [31] in 1951 to Maligranda [119] in 2006.

The results and problems of Th. M. Rassias motivated a number mathematicians to investigate the stability of various functional equations and inequalities. The interested reader can obtain a quick overview on the subject by consulting the surveys of Hyers and Rassias [94], Ger [77], Forti [54], Th. M. Rassias [161] and Székelyhidi [222], and the books of Hyers, Isac and Rassias [92], Jung [102] and Czerwik [44].

Bourgin [30, p. 224] already remarked that a direct generalization of Hyers's theorem can be obtained by replacing  $\varepsilon$  with a more general quantity  $\psi(x, y)$ . However, such a generalization of Hyers' theorem was only proved by Găvruță [65] (for more general results, see [51] and [26]).

Following the approach of Th. M. Rassias, P. Găvruță proved a different form of the following:

**Theorem 3.** If f is a  $\psi$ -approximately additive function of a commutative group U to a Banach space X, for some function  $\psi$  of  $U^2$  to X, in the sense that

$$||f(u+v) - f(u) - f(v)|| \le \psi(u,v)$$

for all  $u, v \in X$ , and

$$S(u,v) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \psi_n(u,v) < +\infty$$

for all  $u, v \in U$ , then there exists an additive function g of U to X such that

$$||f(u) - g(u)|| \le \frac{1}{2}S(u, u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, g is given by the same conditions as in Theorem 2.

**Remark 3.** Here, U can again be a commutative semigroup, and only the additivity of the function g requires the commutativity of U. Moreover, according to Bourgin [30, p. 224] and Ger [77, p. 19], who attributes the result to G. L. Forti and Z. Kominek, the above condition on  $\psi$  can also be weakened. However, the existence of the limit considered in Remark 2 and the uniform convergence of the Hyers sequence cannot yet be stated. Hyers' stability theorem has also been generalized in terms of selections of set-valued functions. First of all, if f and g are as in Theorem 2, then by taking

$$A = \left\{ u \in X : \|u\| \le \varepsilon \right\},$$

W. Smajdor [187] and Gajda and Ger [61] noticed that

$$g(x) - f(x) \in A$$
 and  $f(x+y) - f(x) - f(y) \in A$ .

Hence

$$g(x) \in f(x) + A$$
 and  $f(x+y) \in f(x) + f(y) + f(y)$ 

for all  $x, y \in X$ . Therefore, by defining

$$F(x) = f(x) + A$$

for all  $x \in X$ , we can obtain a multifunction F of X to Y such that g is a selection of F and F is subadditive. That is,

$$g(x) \in F(x)$$
 and  $F(x+y) \subset F(x) + F(y)$ 

for all  $x, y \in X$ . Therefore, Theorem 2 is essentially a statement of the existence of a unique additive selection of a certain subadditive multifunction (the importance of the above observation was also recognized by Th. M. Rassias [160]).

Z. Gajda and R. Ger proved a different form of the following.

A

**Theorem 4.** If F is a convex and closed valued subadditive multifunction of a commutative semigroup U to a Banach space X such that

$$\sup_{u \in U} \operatorname{diam}(F(u)) < +\infty,$$

then F has an additive selection f. Moreover,  $\{f(u)\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n(u)$  for all  $u \in U$ , where  $F_n(u) = 2^{-n} F(2^n u)$ .

**Remark 4.** In the same paper, they also proved an extension of the above theorem to a sequentially complete topological vector space X by introducing the notion of the diameter of a subset of X relative to a balanced neighborhood of the origin in X (see also [59]).

Analogous to Hyers' stability theorem, the Hahn–Banach extension theorems can also be generalized in terms of selections of set-valued functions. This also yields stability theorems for additive functions. For some ideas, see [174], [95], [63], [3], [189], and [198].

Moreover, Páles [135] and Badora [8] showed that generalizations of Hyers' stability theorem can also be proved with the help of separation and extension theorems (for the same purposes, fixed point theorems were also used by V. Radu [153] and L. Cădariu and V. Radu [38, 39]). However, the existence of additive selections of set-valued functions has mainly been investigated with the help of generalized invariant means. See, for instance, [60], [6], and [9] (generalizations to monomial and multimonomial selections were obtained by J. J. Tabor [226], and Badora, Páles and Székelyhidi [10]).

On the other hand, by extending the direct methods, the results of Gajda and Ger [61] have also been generalized by Popa [149, 151] and Száz [208]. By using relations and relators instead of set-valued functions and topologies, we have proved the following extension of Theorem 4.

**Theorem 5.** If F is a closed-valued, 2–subhomogeneous, subadditive relation of a commutative semigroup U to a separated, sequentially complete vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  such that the sequence  $(F_n(u))_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is infinitesimal for all  $u \in U$ , then F has an additive selection f. Moreover, f is given by the same formula as in Theorem 4.

**Remark 5.** Here,  $\mathcal{R}$  is a nonvoid family of relations on the vector space X which is, to some extent, compatible with the linear operations in X. And the infinitesimality of the sequence  $(F_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$  means only that for each  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exist  $x \in X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $F_n(u) \subset R(x)$ .

In the present paper, by working out a more delicate technique using relations and relators, we shall prove a similar generalization of Găvruță's stability theorem. Actually, we will transform the results of Gselmann and Száz [88] to relations and relators.

Here, because of the technical difficulties, we can only note that if f and  $\psi$  are as in Theorem 3, then by defining

$$\begin{split} \Psi(u,v) &= \left\{ x \in X : \quad \|x\| \leq \psi(u,v) \right\} \\ \text{for all } u,v \in U \text{, we have } f(u+v) - f(u) - f(v) \in \Psi(u,v) \text{, and hence} \\ f(u+v) \in f(u) + f(v) + \Psi(u,v) \end{split}$$

for all  $u, v \in U$ .

Therefore, a relation F on one semigroup U to another V is called  $\Psi$ -approximately subadditive, for some relation  $\Psi$  of  $U^2$  to V, if

$$F(u+v) \subset F(u) + F(v) + \Psi(u,v)$$

for all  $u, v \in U$ . This definition is a natural generalization of that of the subadditive relations. Therefore, it will allow us to prove a common generalization of Theorems 3 and 5. The existence and unicity theorems of additive selections can again be proved with the help of those of 2-homogeneous selections. Namely, if F is a midconvex-valued  $\Psi$ -approximately subadditive relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then

$$F(2u) = F(u+u) \subset F(u) + F(u) + \Psi(u,u)$$
  
=  $2\left(\frac{1}{2}F(u) + \frac{1}{2}F(u)\right) + \Psi(u,u) \subset 2F(u) + \Psi(u,u)$ 

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, by defining

$$\Phi(u) = \Psi(u, u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ , we can observe that F is  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous in the sense that

$$F(2u) \subset 2F(u) + \Phi(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

The only prerequisites for understanding our forthcoming selection theorems is a familiarity with several old and new results on relations and relators. These will be listed in a rather systematic way in the sections below. However, the proofs are frequently omitted or only outlined. The interested reader can find some of them in our former papers. However, the present terminology and notation may differ from the earlier ones. Moreover, the classification of relators offered here is still not completely satisfactory.

### 2. RELATIONS AND FUNCTIONS

A subset F of a product set  $U \times V$  is called a relation on U to V. If  $F \subset U^2$ , then we may simply say that F is a relation on U. Thus,  $\Delta_U = \{(u, u) : u \in U\}$  is a relation on U.

If F is a relation on U to V, then for any  $u \in U$  and  $A \subset U$  the sets  $F(u) = \{v \in V : (u, v) \in F\}$  and  $F[A] = \bigcup_{a \in A} F(a)$  are called the images of u and A under F, respectively.

Moreover, the sets  $D_F = \{u \in U : F(u) \neq \emptyset\}$  and  $R_F = F[D_F]$  are called the domain and range of F, respectively. If  $D_F = U$  ( $R_F = V$ ), then we say that F is a relation of U to V (on U onto V).

If F is a relation on U to V, then the values F(u), where  $u \in U$ , uniquely determine F since we have  $F = \bigcup_{u \in U} \{u\} \times F(u)$ . Therefore, the inverse relation  $F^{-1}$  can be defined such that  $F^{-1}(v) = \{u \in U : v \in F(u)\}$  for all  $v \in V$ .

Moreover, if G is a relation on V to W, then the composition relation  $G \circ F$  can be defined such that  $(G \circ F)(u) = G[F(u)]$  for all  $u \in U$ . Thus, we also have  $(G \circ F)[A] = G[F[A]]$ for all  $A \subset U$ .

Additionally, if G is a relation on W to  $\Omega$ , then the box product relation  $F \boxtimes G$  can be defined such that  $(F \boxtimes G)(u, w) = F(u) \times G(w)$  for all  $u \in U$  and  $w \in W$ . Thus, we have  $(F \boxtimes G)[A] = G \circ A \circ F^{-1}$  for all  $A \subset U \times W$ .

A relation R on U is called reflexive, symmetric, and transitive if  $\Delta_U \subset R$ ,  $R^{-1} \subset R$ , and  $R \circ R \subset R$ , respectively. Moreover, a reflexive relation is called a tolerance (preorder) relation if it is symmetric (transitive).

If R is a relation on U, then we write  $R^n = R \circ R^{n-1}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  by agreeing that  $R^0 = \Delta_U$ . Moreover, we also write  $R^{\infty} = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} R^n$ . Thus,  $R^{\infty}$  is the smallest preorder relation on U such that  $R \subset R^{\infty}$ .

A relation f on U to V is called a function if for each  $u \in D_f$  there exists  $v \in V$  such that  $f(u) = \{v\}$ . In this case, by identifying singletons with their elements, we may write f(u) = v in place of  $f(u) = \{v\}$ .

If F is a relation on U to V, then a function f of  $D_F$  to V is called a selection of F if  $f \subset F$ , i. e.,  $f(u) \in F(u)$  for all  $u \in D_F$ . Thus, the axiom of choice can be briefly expressed by saying that every relation has a selection.

If F is a relation on U to V and  $A_i \subset U$  for all  $i \in I$ , then in general we only have  $F\left[\bigcup_{i\in I}A_i\right] = \bigcup_{i\in I}F[A_i]$ . However, if f is a function, then all set-theoretic operations are preserved under the relation  $f^{-1}$ .

A function a of the set  $\mathbb{N}$  of all natural numbers to X is called a sequence in X. In this case, we usually write  $a_n$ ,  $(a_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ , and  $\{a_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in place of a(n), a, and  $R_a$ , respectively.

If  $(a_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence in the set  $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$  of all extended real numbers, then the extended real numbers

$$\underbrace{\lim_{n \to \infty} a_n}_{n \to \infty} = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \inf_{k \ge n} a_k \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{\lim_{n \to \infty} a_n} = \inf_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sup_{k \ge n} a_k$$

are called the lower and upper limits of the sequence  $(a_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ .

Similarly, if  $(A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence in the family  $\mathcal{P}(X)$  of all subsets of X, then the sets

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} A_n = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{k=n}^{\infty} A_k \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} A_n = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} A_k$$

are called the set-theoretic lower and upper limits of the sequence  $(A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ .

A function d of  $X^2$  to  $[0, +\infty]$  is called a distance function on X. The distance function d is said to be quasi-semimetric if d(x, x) = 0,  $d(x, y) < +\infty$ , and  $d(x, z) \le d(x, y) + d(y, z)$  for all  $x, y, z \in X$ .

If d is a distance function on X, then for any r > 0 the relations  $B_r^d = \{(x, y) \in X^2 : d(x, y) < r\}$  and  $\bar{B}_r^d = \{(x, y) \in X^2 : d(x, y) \le r\}$  are called the r-sized open and closed d-surroundings in X.

The surroundings  $B_r^d$  and  $\overline{B}_r^d$  are, in general, only tolerance relations on X even if d is a metric, while the Pervin relations  $R_A = A^2 \cup A^c \times X$ , where  $A \subset X$  and  $A^c = X \setminus A$ , are only preorder relations on X.

If d is a distance function on X, then for any  $A, B \subset X$  we write  $\underline{d}(A, B) = \inf\{d(a, b) : a \in A, b \in B\}$  and  $\overline{d}(A, B) = \sup\{d(a, b) : a \in A, b \in B\}$ . Moreover, in particular, we also write  $d(A) = \overline{d}(A, A)$ .

The surroundings  $B_r^d$  and  $\overline{B}_r^d$  are usually more convenient means than the distance function d. However, the distances  $\underline{d}(A, B)$  and  $\overline{d}(A, B)$ , and the diameter d(A), cannot be directly expressed in terms of the surroundings.

# 3. SEMIGROUPS AND VECTOR SPACES

**Definition 3.1.** If U is a nonvoid set, then a function + of  $U^2$  to U is called an operation in U. And the ordered pair U(+) = (U, +) is called a groupoid.

**Remark 3.1.** In this case, we may simply write u + v in place of +(u, v) for all  $u, v \in U$ . Moreover, we may also simply write U in place of U(+).

Instead of groupoids, it is usually sufficient to consider only semigroups. However, several definitions on semigroups can be naturally extended to groupoids.

**Definition 3.2.** If U is a groupoid and  $u \in U$ , then we define 1u = u. Moreover, if  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that nu is already defined, then

$$(n+1)u = nu + u.$$

By induction, we can easily prove the following theorems.

**Theorem 3.1.** If U is a semigroup, then for any  $u \in U$  and  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

- (1) (m+n)u = mu + nu,
- (2) (nm)u = n(mu).

*Proof.* To prove (2), note that (1m)u = mu = m(1u). Moreover, if (2) holds, then by (1) we also have

$$((n+1)m)u = (nm+m)u = (nm)u + mu = n(mu) + mu = (n+1)(mu)$$

**Theorem 3.2.** If U is a commutative semigroup, then for any  $u, v \in X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have n(u+v) = nu + nv.

**Remark 3.2.** A commutative group U can be made a module over the ring  $\mathbb{Z}$  of integers by using the definitions 0u = 0 and (-n)u = -(nu) for all  $u \in U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Moreover, U can be naturally extended to a vector space V over the field  $\mathbb{Q}$  of rationals by using the quotients  $u/k = \{(l, v) \in \mathbb{Z} \times U : lu = kv\}$  with  $u \in U$  and  $0 \neq k \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

**Remark 3.3.** In the sequel,  $\mathbb{K}$  will denote any one of the number fields  $\mathbb{Q}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$ , and  $\mathbb{C}$ . Moreover, we shall only consider vector spaces over  $\mathbb{K}$ .

Note that if X is a vector space then 1x = x and (n+1)x = nx + x. Moreover, 0x = 0 and (-n)x = -nx for all  $x \in X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Therefore, the two possible definitions for kx, with  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $x \in X$ , coincide.

**Definition 3.3.** If U is a groupoid, then for any  $A, B \subset U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we define

 $A + B = \left\{ a + b : a \in A, b \in B \right\}$  and  $nA = \left\{ na : a \in A \right\}.$ 

**Remark 3.4.** If U is a group, then for any  $A \subset U$  and  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  we also define  $kA = \{ka : a \in A\}$ .

Also, for any  $A, B \subset U$ , we write -A = (-1)A and A - B = A + (-B) despite the fact that  $\mathcal{P}(U)$  is only a semigroup with zero element.

**Remark 3.5.** Moreover, if X is a vector space over  $\mathbb{K}$ , then for any  $A \subset X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  we also define  $\lambda A = \{\lambda x : x \in A\}$ .

Thus, only two axioms of a vector space fail to hold for  $\mathcal{P}(X)$ . Namely, only the one point subsets of X can have additive inverses. Moreover, in general we only have  $(\lambda + \mu)A \subset \lambda A + \mu A$ .

### 4. ADDITIVITY PROPERTIES OF RELATIONS

**Definition 4.1.** A relation R on a groupoid U is called a translation relation if

$$u + R(v) \subset R(u + v)$$

for all  $u, v \in U$  (actually, it should be called a left translation relation).

**Remark 4.1.** By using the global addition of relations, the above condition can be briefly expressed by writing  $\Delta_{u} \oplus R \subset R$ .

Moreover, the latter inclusion can be expressed by saying that vRw implies (u+v)R(u+w) for all  $u \in U$ . Thus, the usual order relation of  $\mathbb{R}$  is a translation relation.

By using the corresponding definitions, we can easily prove the following

**Theorem 4.1.** If R is a relation on a group U, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1) *R* is a translation relation;
- (2) R(u) = u + R(0) for all  $u \in U$ ;

- (3) R(u+v) = u + R(v) for all  $u, v \in U$ ;
- (4)  $R(u+v) \subset u + R(v)$  for all  $u, v \in U$ .

*Proof.* For instance, if (4) holds, then

$$R(u) = R(u+0) \subset u + R(0) = u + R(-u+u) \subset u - u + R(u) = R(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, (2) also holds.

From the above theorem, it is clear that we have:

**Corollary 4.2.** If R is a nonvoid translation relation on a group U, then  $U = D_{R}$ .

**Definition 4.2.** A relation F on one groupoid U to another V is called

- (1) subadditive if  $F(u+v) \subset F(u) + F(v)$  for all  $u, v \in U$ ;
- (2) superadditive if  $F(u) + F(v) \subset F(u+v)$  for all  $u, v \in U$ .

**Remark 4.2.** By using the global addition of relations, the superadditivity of F can be briefly expressed by  $F \oplus F \subset F$ . That is, F is a subgroupoid of  $U \times V$ .

Moreover, the latter inclusion can be expressed by saying that uFw and vFz imply (u + v)F(w + z). Thus, the usual order relation of  $\mathbb{R}$  is a superadditive relation.

**Remark 4.3.** It is also worth noting that if R is a reflexive superadditive relation on a groupoid U, then R is a translation relation on U.

**Definition 4.3.** A relation F on one group U to another V is called:

- (1) odd if  $-F(u) \subset F(-u)$  for all  $u \in D_F$ ;
- (2) quasi-odd if  $-F(u) \cap F(-u) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $u \in D_F$ .

**Remark 4.4.** Note that if F is an odd relation on U to V, then for any  $u \in U$  we have  $-F(-u) \subset F(u)$ , and hence  $F(-u) \subset -F(u)$ . Therefore, the corresponding equality is also true.

**Remark 4.5.** By using the global negative of relations, the oddness of F can be briefly expressed by writing  $\ominus F \subset F$ , or equivalently  $F = \ominus F$ .

Moreover, the above inclusion can be expressed by saying that uFv implies (-u)F(-v). Thus, the usual order relation of  $\mathbb{R}$  is not odd. However, from the following theorem it is clear that it is quasi-odd.

**Theorem 4.3.** If *F* is a relation on one group *X* to another *Y*, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1) F is quasi-odd;
- (2)  $0 \in F(u) + F(-u)$  for all  $u \in D_F$ .

*Proof.* For instance, if (1) holds, then for each  $u \in D_F$  there exists  $v \in F(-u)$  such that  $v \in -F(u)$ , and thus  $-v \in F(u)$ . Hence, it is clear that  $0 = -v + v \in F(u) + F(-u)$ . Therefore, (2) also holds.

Hence, we also have:

**Corollary 4.4.** If R is a reflexive relation on a group X, then R is quasi-odd.

Moreover, by using Theorem 4.3, we can prove the following theorems.

**Theorem 4.5.** If F is a subadditive relation on one group U to another V such that  $0 \in F(0)$ , then F is quasi-odd and  $U = D_F$ .

*Proof.* Namely, for any  $u \in U$ , we have

$$0 \in F(0) = F(u - u) \subset F(u) + F(-u).$$

Thus,  $F(u) \neq \emptyset$ . Moreover, Theorem 4.3 can be applied.

**Theorem 4.6.** If F is a quasi-odd superadditive relation of one group U to another V, then F is subadditive and  $0 \in F(0)$ .

*Proof.* If  $u, v \in U$ , then by Theorem 4.3 and the superadditivity of F we have

$$0 \in F(u) + F(-u) \subset F(u-u) = F(0)$$

and

 $F(u+v) \subset F(u) + F(-u) + F(u+v) \subset F(u) + F(-u+u+v) = F(u) + F(v).$ 

**Remark 4.6.** If  $U = D_F$  is not assumed, then instead of the subadditivity of F we can only prove that F is quasi-subadditive in the sense that  $F(u+v) \subset F(u) + F(v)$  for all  $u, v \in U$  with either  $u \in D_F$  or  $v \in D_F$ .

**Definition 4.4.** A selection f of a relation F on one group U to another V is called odd-like if  $-f(u) \in F(-u)$  for all  $u \in D_F$ .

**Remark 4.7.** Note that if f is an odd selection of F, then  $-f(u) = f(-u) \in F(-u)$  for all  $u \in D_F$ . Therefore, f is odd-like.

Moreover, if f is a selection of an odd relation F, then  $-f(u) \in -F(u) = F(-u)$  for all  $u \in D_F$ . Therefore, f is again odd-like.

Now, in addition to Theorem 4.3, we can establish the following.

**Theorem 4.7.** If F is a relation on one group U to another V, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1) F is quasi-odd;
- (2) *F* has an odd-like selection.

*Proof.* For instance, if (1) holds, then  $-F(u) \cap F(-u) \neq \emptyset$ , and hence  $F(u) \cap (-F(-u)) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $u \in D_F$ . Thus, by the axiom of choice, there exists a function f of  $D_F$  to V such that  $f(u) \in F(u) \cap (-F(-u))$ , and hence  $f(u) \in F(u)$  and  $-f(u) \in F(-u)$  for all  $u \in D_F$ . Therefore, f is an odd-like selection of F, and thus (2) also holds.

**Definition 4.5.** A selection f of a relation F on one groupoid U with zero to an arbitrary groupoid V is called a representing selection of F if F(u) = f(u) + F(0) for all  $u \in D_F$ .

Moreover, a representing selection f of F is called normal if F(0) + f(u) = f(u) + F(0) for all  $u \in D_F$ .

**Remark 4.8.** If R is a translation relation on a group U such that  $0 \in R(0)$ , then by Theorem 4.1 the identity function  $\Delta_U$  is a representing selection of R.

Moreover, if the translation relation R is normal in the sense that u + R(0) = R(0) + u for all  $u \in U$ , then  $\Delta_u$  is already a normal representing selection of R.

Now, analogously to Theorem 4.1, we can prove the following.

**Theorem 4.8.** If F is a superadditive relation on one group U to another V and f is an odd-like selection of F, then f is a normal representing selection of F.

*Proof.* For any  $u \in D_{F}$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} f(u) + F(0) &\subset F(u) + F(0) \subset F(u) \\ &= f(u) - f(u) + F(u) \subset f(u) + F(-u) + F(u) \subset f(u) + F(0). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, F(u) = f(u) + F(0). Moreover, we can similarly see that F(u) = F(0) + f(u) is also true.

**Remark 4.9.** Note that if f is a representing selection of a superadditive relation F on a groupoid U with zero to an arbitrary one V, then

$$F(0) + f(u) \subset F(0) + F(u) \subset F(u) = f(u) + F(0)$$

for all  $u \in D_F$ .

Hence, if V is a group and for each  $u \in D_F$  there exists  $v \in D_F$  such that f(v) = -f(u), then we can infer that

$$f(u) + F(0) = f(u) + F(0) + f(v) + f(u) \subset f(u) + f(v) + F(0) + f(u)$$
  
= F(0) + f(u).

Therefore, the representing selection f is normal.

## 5. FURTHER RESULTS ON TRANSLATION RELATIONS

**Theorem 5.1.** If R is a translation relation on U, then  $R^{-1}$  is also a translation relation on U.

*Proof.* If  $u, v \in U$  and  $z \in R^{-1}(v)$ , then  $v \in R(z)$  and  $u + v \in u + R(z) \subset R(u + z)$ , and hence  $u + z \in R^{-1}(u + v)$ . Therefore,  $u + R^{-1}(v) \subset R^{-1}(u + v)$ .

**Theorem 5.2.** If R and S are translation relations on U, then  $S \circ R$  is also a translation relation on U.

*Proof.* It can be easily seen that, for any  $u, v \in U$ , we have

$$u + (S \circ R)(v) = u + S[R(v)] \subset S[u + R(v)] \subset S[R(u + v)]$$
$$= (S \circ R)(u + v).$$

**Remark 5.1.** Unfortunately, the pointwise linear operations lead out from the family of all translation relations on a vector space X.

In addition to the above theorems, we can prove the following theorems.

**Theorem 5.3.** If R and S are translation relations on U, then  $R \setminus S$  is also a translation relation on U.

**Corollary 5.4.** If R is a translation relation on U, then its complement  $R^c$  is also a translation relation on U.

**Theorem 5.5.** If  $R_i$  is a translation relation on U for all  $i \in I$ , then  $\bigcap_{i \in I} R_i$  and  $\bigcup_{i \in I} R_i$  are also translation relations on U.

Hence, we also have:

**Corollary 5.6.** If R is a relation on a groupoid U, then there exists a smallest translation relation  $R^{\top}$  on U such that  $R \subset R^{\top}$ .

Moreover, by using Theorems 5.2 and 5.5, we can also easily establish:

**Theorem 5.7.** If R is translation relation on U, then the generated preorder  $R^{\infty}$  is also a translation relation on U.

By using Theorem 4.1, in addition to Theorems 5.1 and 5.2, we can prove the following theorems.

**Theorem 5.8.** If R is a translation relation on a group U, then

$$R^{-1}(0) = -R(0).$$

Proof. By Theorems 5.1 and 4.1, we have

 $u \in R^{-1}(0) \iff 0 \in R(u) \iff 0 \in u + R(0) \iff -u \in R(0) \iff u \in -R(0)$ 

for any  $u \in U$ . Therefore, the required assertion is also true.

**Corollary 5.9.** If R is a normal translation relation on a group U, then for any  $u \in U$  we have  $R^{-1}(u) = -R(-u).$ 

*Proof.* By Theorems 5.1, 4.1 and 5.8 and the normality of R(0), we have

$$R^{-1}(u) = u + R^{-1}(0) = u - R(0) = -(R(0) - u)$$
  
= -(-u + R(0)) = -R(-u).

**Theorem 5.10.** If R is an arbitrary translation relation and S is a translation relation on a group U, then

$$(S \circ R)(0) = R(0) + S(0)$$

*Proof.* By using Theorem 4.1, we can easily see that

(

$$S \circ R(0) = S[R(0)] = S[R(0) + 0] = R(0) + S(0).$$

**Corollary 5.11.** If R and S are translation relations on a group U, then for any  $u \in U$  we have

$$(S \circ R)(u) = R(u) + S(0)$$

**Theorem 5.12.** If R is a normal translation relation and S is an arbitrary translation relation on a group U, then for any  $u, v \in U$  we have

$$(S \circ R)(u+v) = R(u) + S(v).$$

*Proof.* By Theorems 5.2, 4.1 and 5.10 and the normality of R(0), we have

$$(S \circ R)(u + v) = u + v + (S \circ R)(0)$$
  
= u + v + R(0) + S(0)  
= u + R(0) + v + S(0) = R(u) + S(v).

**Corollary 5.13.** If R and S are as in the above theorem, then  $S \circ R = R \circ S$ .

*Proof.* Namely, by Theorem 5.12 and the normality of R(0) and Corollary 5.11, we have

$$(S \circ R)(u) = (S \circ R)(0+u) = R(0) + S(u) = S(u) + R(0) = (R \circ S)(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, the required assertion is also true.

By using our former results, we can also easily prove the following theorems.

13

**Theorem 5.14.** If R, S and T are translation relations on a group U, then

(1)  $R \subset S \iff R(0) \subset S(0);$ 

(2)  $R^{-1} \subset S \iff -R(0) \subset S(0);$ 

(3)  $S \circ R \subset T \iff R(0) + S(0) \subset T(0);$ 

(4)  $R \subset S \cap T \iff R(0) \subset S(0) \cap T(0).$ 

**Corollary 5.15.** If R is a translation relation on a group U, then

(1) R is reflexive  $\iff 0 \in R(0);$ 

(2) R is symmetric  $\iff -R(0) \subset R(0);$ 

(3) R is transitive  $\iff R(0) + R(0) \subset R(0);$ 

(4) *R* is antisymmetric  $\iff -R(0) \cap R(0) \subset \{0\}.$ 

**Theorem 5.16.** If R is a normal translation relation on a group U, then

(1)  $R \text{ is odd} \iff -R(0) \subset R(0);$ 

- (2) R is quasi-odd  $\iff -R(0) \cap R(0) \neq \emptyset$ ;
- (3) R is subadditive  $\iff R(0) \subset R(0) + R(0);$
- (4) R is superadditive  $\iff R(0) + R(0) \subset R(0)$ .

**Remark 5.2.** Corollary 5.15 and Theorem 5.16 show that a normal translation relation on a group is odd (superadditive) if and only if it is symmetric (transitive).

From Theorem 5.10, we obtain the following.

**Theorem 5.17.** If R is a translation relation on a group U, then

$$R^{\infty}(0) = \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n} R(0)$$

*Proof.* From Theorem 5.10, by induction, we obtain  $R^n(0) = \sum_{k=1}^n R(0)$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence, by the corresponding definitions, it is clear that

$$R^{\infty}(0) = \left(\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} R^{n}\right)(0) = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} R^{n}(0)$$
$$= R^{0}(0) \cup \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} R^{n}(0) = \{0\} \cup \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n} R(0).$$

Now, by calling a translation relation R on a group U absorbing if R(0) is an absorbing subset of U in the sense  $U = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} nR(0)$ , we can easily establish that:

**Corollary 5.18.** If R is an absorbing translation relation on a group U, then R is well-chained in the sense that  $R^{\infty} = U^2$ .

Proof. By using Theorem 5.17, we can see that

$$U = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} nR(0) \subset \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n} R(0) \subset R^{\infty}(0),$$

and thus  $R^{\infty}(0) = U$ . Hence, by Theorems 5.7 and 4.1, it follows that

$$R^{\infty}(u) = u + R^{\infty}(0) = u + U = U$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, the required assertion is also true.

Moreover, as direct consequences of the latter corollary, we can also state:

**Corollary 5.19.** If R is an absorbing translation relation on a group U, then  $R[A] \subset A$  implies  $A \in \{\emptyset, U\}$  for all  $A \subset U$ .

**Corollary 5.20.** If R is a transitive, absorbing translation relation on a group U, then  $R = X^2$ .

### 6. HOMOGENEITY PROPERTIES OF RELATIONS

**Definition 6.1.** A relation F on one vector space X to another Y over  $\mathbb{K}$  is called:

- (1) homogeneous if  $\lambda F(x) \subset F(\lambda x)$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ ;
- (2) balanced if  $\lambda F(x) \subset F(\lambda x)$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  with  $|\lambda| \leq 1$ ;
- (3) convex if  $\lambda F(x) + (1-\lambda)F(y) \subset F(\lambda x + (1-\lambda)y)$  for all  $x, y \in X$  and  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ .

**Remark 6.1.** Note that thus a subset A of X is homogeneous, balanced, and convex, respectively, if and only if the relation  $F = X \times A$  has the corresponding property.

Moreover, it can be easily seen that a relation F on X to Y is homogeneous, balanced, and convex if and only if it is a homogeneous, balanced, and convex subset of the product space  $X \times Y$ , respectively.

By using the corresponding definitions, we can prove the following theorems.

**Theorem 6.1.** If F is a nonvoid, homogeneous relation on one vector space X to another Y over  $\mathbb{K}$ , then  $0 \in F(0)$ , and for any  $x \in X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ , with  $\lambda \neq 0$ , we have

$$F(\lambda x) = \lambda F(x)$$

*Proof.* Note that  $0 \in 0F(u) \subset F(0u) = F(0)$  for all  $u \in D_F$ . Moreover,  $\lambda^{-1}F(\lambda x) \subset F(\lambda^{-1}\lambda x) = F(x)$ , and thus  $F(\lambda x) \subset \lambda F(x)$  also holds.

**Theorem 6.2.** If F is a balanced relation on one vector space X to another Y over K, then for any  $x \in X$  and  $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{K}$ , with  $|\lambda| \leq |\mu|$ , we have

$$\lambda F(\mu x) \subset \mu F(\lambda x).$$

*Proof.* If in addition to the above conditions we have  $\mu \neq 0$ , then

$$\lambda F(\mu x) = \mu \lambda \mu^{-1} F(\mu x) \subset \mu F\left(\lambda \mu^{-1} \mu A\right) = \mu F(\lambda A),$$

while if  $\mu = 0$ , then we also have  $\lambda = 0$ . Therefore, the required inclusion is again true.

From this theorem, by using  $|\lambda| \le |\lambda|| \le |\lambda|$ , we can immediately obtain:

**Corollary 6.3.** If F is a balanced relation on one vector space X to another Y over  $\mathbb{K}$ , then for any  $x \in X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ ,

$$\lambda F(|\lambda|x) = |\lambda|F(\lambda x).$$

**Theorem 6.4.** If F is a convex relation on one vector space X to another Y over  $\mathbb{K}$ , then for any  $x, y \in X$  and  $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{K}$ , with  $\lambda, \mu \ge 0$  and  $\lambda + \mu \ne 0$ , we obtain

$$\lambda F(x) + \mu F(y) \subset (\lambda + \mu) F\left(\lambda(\lambda + \mu)^{-1}x + \mu(\lambda + \mu)^{-1}y\right).$$

Hence, we also have:

**Corollary 6.5.** If F is a convex relation on one vector space X to another Y over  $\mathbb{K}$ , then for any  $x \in X$  and  $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{K}$ , with  $\lambda, \mu \ge 0$ ,

$$(\lambda + \mu)F(x) = \lambda F(x) + \mu F(x).$$

**Remark 6.2.** Note that, by using Remark 6.1, several useful properties of balanced and convex sets can be immediately derived from the above results on balanced and convex relations.

By using Theorem 4.1 and the corresponding definitions, we can easily prove the following counterpart of Corollary 5.15 and Theorem 5.16.

**Theorem 6.6.** If R is a translation relation on a vector space X over  $\mathbb{K}$ , then

- (1) R is convex  $\iff R(0)$  is convex;
- (2) R is balanced  $\iff R(0)$  is balanced;
- (3) R is homogeneous  $\iff R(0)$  is homogeneous.

To provide a natural example for balanced translation relations, we shall use an important generalization of the notion of seminorms.

**Definition 6.2.** A function p of a vector space X over  $\mathbb{K}$  to  $\mathbb{R}$  is called a preseminorm if

- (1)  $\lim_{\lambda \to 0} p(\lambda x) = 0$  for all  $x \in X$ ;
- (2)  $p(\lambda x) \le p(x)$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  with  $|\lambda| \le 1$ ;
- (3)  $p(x+y) \le p(x) + p(y)$  for all  $x, y \in X$ .

**Remark 6.3.** Thus, we have  $p(0) = \lim_{\lambda \to 0} p(0) = \lim_{\lambda \to 0} p(\lambda 0) = 0$ . Moreover,

$$0 = p(0) = p(x - x) \le p(x) + p(-x) \le p(x) + p(x) = 2p(x),$$

and hence  $0 \le p(x)$  for all  $x \in X$ .

Now, by Definition 6.2, we also have the following:

**Theorem 6.7.** If p is a preseminorm on a vector space X over  $\mathbb{K}$ , then the function  $d = d_p$ , defined by

$$l_p(x,y) = p(x-y)$$

for all  $x, y \in X$ , is a semimetric on X such that

- (1)  $\lim_{x \to 0} d(\lambda x, \lambda y) = 0$  for all  $x, y \in X$ ;
- (2)  $d(\lambda x, \lambda y) \leq d(x, y)$  for all  $x, y \in X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  with  $|\lambda| \leq 1$ ;

(3)  $d(x+y, z+w) \le d(x, z) + d(y, w)$  for all  $x, y, z, w \in X$ .

**Remark 6.4.** If p is a seminorm on X, then for any  $x \in X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  we simply have

$$d(\lambda x, \lambda y) = |\lambda| d(x, y).$$

**Definition 6.3.** If p a preseminom on X, then by the above theorem we may write

$$B_r^p = B_r^{d_p}$$
 and  $\bar{B}_r^p = \bar{B}_r^{d_p}$ 

for all r > 0.

The open and closed surroundings have almost the same properties. Therefore, in the following two simple theorems, we shall only list those of the open ones.

**Theorem 6.8.** If p is a preseminorm on X, then  $B_r = B_r^p$  is a tolerance relation on X such that, for any r, s > 0, we have

- (1)  $B_{r\wedge s} = B_r \cap B_s;$
- (2)  $B_r \circ B_s \subset B_{r+s}$ .

**Remark 6.5.** Moreover, it is worth noting that if  $x \in X$  and  $y \in B_r(x)$  then s = r - d(x, y) > 0 and  $B_s(y) \subset B_r(x)$ .

**Theorem 6.9.** If p is a preseminorm on X, then  $B_r = B_r^p$  is an absorbing, balanced translation relation on X such that, for any  $x, y \in X$  and r, s > 0, we have

$$B_r(x) + B_s(y) \subset B_{r+s}(x+y).$$

**Remark 6.6.** If p is a seminorm on a vector space X over  $\mathbb{K}$ , then we can also state that  $B_r = B_r^p$  is a convex relation on X such that, for any  $x \in X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ , with  $\lambda \neq 0$ , we have

$$\lambda B_r(x) = B_{|\lambda|r}(\lambda x).$$

### 7. A FEW BASIC FACTS ON RELATORS

**Definition 7.1.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a family of relations on a set X, then we say that the family  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X and the ordered pair  $X(\mathcal{R}) = (X, \mathcal{R})$  is a relator space.

**Remark 7.1.** Thus, relator spaces are natural generalizations of ordered sets and uniform spaces (see [190]). Moreover, all reasonable generalizations of the usual topological structures can be easily derived from relators (see [194]).

However, to include the theory of Galois connections and formal contexts (see [64, p. 17]) and to briefly express the continuity properties of relations, relators on one set to another also have to be considered (see [201, 207, 208]).

**Example 7.1.** If  $\mathcal{A}$  is a family of subsets of X, then the family of  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{A}}$  of all Pervin relations  $R_{\mathcal{A}}$ , where  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ , is an important relator on X.

Namely, all minimal structures, generalized topologies and ascending systems on X can be derived from  $\mathcal{R}_{A}$  according to [210].

**Example 7.2.** If  $\mathcal{D}$  is a family of distance functions on X, then the family  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{D}}$  of all surroundings  $B_r^d$ , where  $d \in \mathcal{D}$  and r > 0, is also an important relator on X.

Namely, each topology can be derived from a family of quasi-semimetrics according to Pervin [147, Theorem 11.1.2 and an analogue of Theorem 11.3.4]. Moreover, the relator  $\mathcal{R}_{D}$  is usually a more convenient tool than the family  $\mathcal{D}$ .

**Remark 7.2.** Apart from preorder relators, tolerance relators are also important particular cases of reflexive relators. Note that a relator may be called reflexive if each of its members is reflexive.

Among the several basic algebraic and topological structures derivable from relators, we shall only need here the induced closures and interiors, and sequential convergences and adherences.

**Definition 7.2.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then for any  $x \in X$  and  $A \subset X$  we write

- (1)  $x \in \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$  if  $R(x) \subset A$  for some  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ ;
- (2)  $x \in cl_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$  if  $R(x) \cap A \neq \emptyset$  for all  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ .

**Remark 7.3.** More generally, for any  $A, B \subset X$ , we may also write  $B \in \text{Int}_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$  if  $R[B] \subset A$  for some  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ .

On the other hand, if R is a relation on X, then by identifying singletons with their elements we may write  $\inf_{R} = \inf_{\{R\}}$ .

A simple application of the corresponding definitions immediately yields:

**Example 7.3.** If  $\mathcal{D}$  is family of distance functions on X, then for any  $x \in X$  and  $A \subset X$ , we have  $x \in \text{cl}_{\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{D}}}(A)$  if and only if  $\underline{d}(x, A) = 0$  for all  $d \in \mathcal{D}$ .

By using the corresponding definitions, we can establish the following theorems.

**Theorem 7.1.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then for any  $A \subset X$  we have

- (1) cl<sub> $\mathcal{R}$ </sub>(A) = int<sub> $\mathcal{R}$ </sub>(A<sup>c</sup>)<sup>c</sup>;
- (2) int  $_{\mathcal{R}}(A) = \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A^c)^c$ .

**Theorem 7.2.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then

(1) cl<sub>$$\mathcal{R}$$</sub> =  $\bigcap_{R \in \mathcal{R}}$  cl <sub>$R$</sub> ;  
(2) int <sub>$\mathcal{R}$</sub>  =  $\bigcup_{R \in \mathcal{R}}$  int <sub>$R$</sub> .

**Theorem 7.3.** If R is a relation on X, then for any  $A \subset X$  we have

$$\operatorname{cl}_{R}(A) = R^{-1}[A].$$

From the above theorems, we can immediately derive the following

**Theorem 7.4.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then

(1)  $\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(\emptyset) = \emptyset$  (int  $_{\mathcal{R}}(X) = X$ ) if  $\mathcal{R} \neq \emptyset$ , (2)  $\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A) \subset \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(B)$  (int  $_{\mathcal{R}}(A) \subset \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(B)$ ) if  $A \subset B \subset X$ .

**Definition 7.3.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the members of the families

$$\mathcal{T}_{\!_{\mathcal{R}}} = \left\{ A \subset X : A \subset \operatorname{int}_{_{\mathcal{R}}}(A) \right\} \quad \text{ and } \quad \mathcal{F}_{\!_{\mathcal{R}}} = \left\{ A \subset X : \operatorname{cl}_{_{\mathcal{R}}}(A) \subset A \right\}$$

are called the open and closed subsets of the relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , respectively.

By Theorem 7.1, we have the following

**Theorem 7.5.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then

(1)  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}} = \{ A^c : A \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}} \};$ (2)  $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}} = \{ A^c : A \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}} \}.$ 

**Remark 7.4.** Note that if  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X and

$$au_{\mathcal{R}} = \bigcup_{R \in \mathcal{R}} \mathcal{T}_{R} \qquad \text{and} \qquad au_{\mathcal{R}} = \bigcup_{R \in \mathcal{R}} \mathcal{F}_{R}.$$

then in contrast to Theorem 7.2 we only have  $\ \tau_{_{\mathcal{R}}} \subset \mathcal{T}_{_{\mathcal{R}}}$  and  $\ \tau_{_{\mathcal{R}}} \subset \mathcal{F}_{_{\mathcal{R}}}$ .

By Theorem 7.4, we also have the following:

**Theorem 7.6.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then

(1)  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$   $(X \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}})$  if  $\mathcal{R} \neq \emptyset$ , (2)  $\bigcap \mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$  if  $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$   $(\bigcup \mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}})$  if  $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$ ).

**Remark 7.5.** From (2), by taking  $\mathcal{A} = \emptyset$ , we can see that  $\emptyset \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$  and  $X \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$  are always true. Thus, in general,  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$  is only a generalized topology and  $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$  is only a convexity structure on X (see [210] and [89]).

**Definition 7.4.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the members of the families

$$\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}} = \left\{ A \subset X : \text{ int }_{\mathcal{R}}(A) \neq \emptyset \right\} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}} = \left\{ A \subset X : \text{ cl }_{\mathcal{R}}(A) = X \right\}$$

are called the fat and dense subsets of the relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , respectively.

**Remark 7.6.** In a relator space, the fat and dense sets are usually more important tools than the open and closed ones.

For instance, if  $\leq$  is a certain order relation on X, then  $\mathcal{T}_{\leq}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{\leq}$  are just the families of all ascending and residual subsets of the ordered set  $X(\leq)$ , respectively. Moreover, it may occur that  $\mathcal{T}_{R} = \{\emptyset, X\}$ , but  $\mathcal{E}_{R} \neq \{X\}$  for some relation R on X.

Furthermore, in contrast to the open and closed sets, we now have the following theorems.

**Theorem 7.7.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then

(1)  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}} = \{ A \subset X : A^c \notin \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}} \};$ (2)  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}} = \{ A \subset X : A^c \notin \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}} \}.$ 

**Theorem 7.8.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then

(1)  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}} = \{ A \subset X : \forall B \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}} : A \cap B \neq \emptyset \};$ (2)  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}} = \{ A \subset X : \forall B \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}} : A \cap B \neq \emptyset \}.$ 

**Remark 7.7.** In this respect, note that  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}} \setminus \{\emptyset\} \subset \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}} \cap \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}} \subset \{X\}$ .

**Theorem 7.9.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then

(1) 
$$\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}} = \bigcup_{R \in \mathcal{R}} \mathcal{E}_{R};$$
  
(2)  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}} = \bigcap_{R \in \mathcal{R}} \mathcal{D}_{R}.$ 

**Theorem 7.10.** If R is a relation on X, then

$$\mathcal{D}_{R} = \left\{ A \subset X : \quad X = R^{-1}[A] \right\}.$$

**Theorem 7.11.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$  and  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}}$  are ascending systems in  $\mathcal{P}(X)$  such that:

- (1)  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}} \neq \emptyset \ (\emptyset \notin \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}})$  if and only if  $X \neq \emptyset$  and  $\mathcal{R} \neq \emptyset$ ;
- (2)  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}} \neq \emptyset \ (\emptyset \notin \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}})$  if and only if  $X = D_{\mathcal{R}}$  for all  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ .

**Remark 7.8.** A relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X is called total if each member R of  $\mathcal{R}$  is total on X in the sense that X is the domain of R.

### 8. CONVERGENT AND ADHERENT SEQUENCES

Our following definitions on sequences can be naturally extended to nets. However, in the sequel, we shall only be interested in sequences. Therefore, for the sake of simplicity, we shall restrict ourselves to sequences here.

**Definition 8.1.** A subset A of a relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  is called infinitesimal if for each  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ 

there exists  $x \in X$  such that  $A \subset R(x)$ . Moreover, a sequence  $(A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$  is called infinitesimal if for each  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exist  $x \in X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A_n \subset R(x)$ .

**Remark 8.1.** A subset A of  $X(\mathcal{R})$  is infinitesimal if and only if the constant sequence  $(A)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is infinitesimal.

Moreover, if  $(A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is an infinitesimal sequence of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then  $A = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} A_n$ is an infinitesimal subset of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

By using the corresponding definitions, we can easily establish the following characterizations of infinitesimal sets.

**Example 8.1.** If  $\mathcal{D}$  is a family of distance functions on X and A is a subset of the relator space  $X(\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{D}})$ , then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1) A is infinitesimal;
- (2)  $\inf_{x \in X} \overline{d}(x, A) = 0$  for all  $d \in \mathcal{D}$ .

**Theorem 8.1.** If A is a subset of a relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then the following assertions are equivalent:

(1) A is infinitesimal; (2)  $\bigcap R^{-1}(a) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ .  $a \in A$ 

*Proof.* Namely, for any  $x \in X$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ , we have

$$A \subset R(x) \iff \forall a \in A : a \in R(x)$$
$$\iff \forall a \in A : x \in R^{-1}(a) \iff x \in \bigcap_{a \in A} R^{-1}(a)$$

**Remark 8.2.** It is also worth noting that

$$A \subset R(x) \iff A \cap R(x)^c = \emptyset$$
  
$$\iff A \cap R^c(x) = \emptyset \iff x \notin (R^c)^{-1}[A] \iff x \in (R^c)^{-1}[A]^c.$$

Therefore, the equality  $\bigcap_{a \in A} R^{-1}(a) = (R^c)^{-1} [A]^c$  is also true.

We may also introduce the following definition concerning sequences of sets.

**Definition 8.2.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X and  $A = (A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of subsets of X, then for any  $x \in X$  we write

- (1)  $x \in \lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A)$  if for any  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A_k \subset R(x)$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \ge n$ ;
- (2)  $x \in \text{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$  if for any  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , with  $k \ge n$ , such that  $A_k \subset R(x)$ .

**Remark 8.3.** Thus,  $\lim_{\mathcal{R}}$  and  $adh_{\mathcal{R}}$  are relations between sequences of subsets of X and points of X such that  $\lim_{\mathcal{R}} \subset adh_{\mathcal{R}}$ .

More generally, for any pair  $A = (A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $B = (B_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of sequences of subsets of X, we may write  $B \in \lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A)$  if for any  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $B_k \times A_k \subset R$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \ge n$ .

Note that, by identifying singletons with their elements, the latter definition can be immediately applied to sequences of points of X as well.

Now, analogous to Example 8.1 and Theorem 8.1, we can establish the following descriptions of convergences and adherences.

**Example 8.2.** If  $\mathcal{D}$  is family of distance functions on X, then for any  $x \in X$  and sequence  $A = (A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of subsets of X we have

(1)  $x \in \lim_{\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{D}}} (A)$  if and only if  $\overline{\lim_{n \to \infty}} \overline{d}(x, A_n) = 0$  for all  $d \in \mathcal{D}$ ; (2)  $x \in \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{D}}} (A)$  if and only if  $\underline{\lim_{n \to \infty}} \overline{d}(x, A_n) = 0$  for all  $d \in \mathcal{D}$ .

**Theorem 8.2.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then

(1) 
$$\lim_{\mathcal{R}} = \bigcap_{R \in \mathcal{R}} \lim_{R} R;$$
  
(2)  $\operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}} = \bigcap_{R \in \mathcal{R}} \operatorname{adh}_{R}.$ 

**Theorem 8.3.** If R is a relation on X, then for any sequence  $A = (A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of subsets of X we have

(1) 
$$\lim_{R} (A) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \bigcap_{a \in A_n} R^{-1}(a);$$
  
(2)  $\operatorname{adh}_{R}(A) = \overline{\lim_{n \to \infty}} \bigcap_{a \in A_n} R^{-1}(a).$ 

From Theorems 8.2 and 8.3, we can derive several properties of convergences and adherences. For instance, by using Theorems 7.2 and 7.3, we obtain:

**Theorem 8.4.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then for any sequence  $a = (a_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  in X we have

$$\operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(a) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\{a_k\}_{k=n}^{\infty}\right).$$

Hence, by Theorem 7.4, we get:

**Corollary 8.5.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X and  $A \subset X$ , then for any sequence a in A we have  $\operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(a) \subset \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$ .

For the origins of the second part of the following definition, the reader is referred to the historical notes of [195].

**Definition 8.3.** A sequence A of subsets of a relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  is called

- (1) convergent (adherent) if  $\lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A) \neq \emptyset$  (  $\operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}} (A) \neq \emptyset$ );
- (2) convergence (adherence) Cauchy if  $\lim_{R} (A) \neq \emptyset$  (adh  $_{R}(A) \neq \emptyset$ ) for all  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ .

**Remark 8.4.** Additionally, if X is a groupoid with zero, then the sequence A is called convergence (adherence) null if  $0 \in \lim_{R} (A)$  ( $0 \in adh_{R}(A)$ ).

By Theorem 8.2 and Definition 8.3, we have the following:

**Theorem 8.6.** If A is a convergent (adherent) sequence of subsets of a relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then A is convergence (adherence) Cauchy.

**Remark 8.5.** By the corresponding definitions, it is also clear that if A is a convergence (adherence) Cauchy sequence of subsets of a relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then A is infinitesimal.

It is also worth noting that if A is a decreasing infinitesimal sequence of subsets of a relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then A is already convergence (adherence) Cauchy.

By Theorem 8.2 and Definition 8.3, it is obvious that the converse of Theorem 8.6 need not be true. Therefore, we may also introduce the following

**Definition 8.4.** A relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X, or a relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , is called

- (1) sequentially convergence point-complete (set-complete) if each convergence Cauchy sequence of points (non-void subsets) of  $X(\mathcal{R})$  is convergent;
- (2) sequentially convergence–adherence point-complete (set-complete) if each convergence Cauchy sequence of points (non-void subsets) of  $X(\mathcal{R})$  is adherent.

**Remark 8.6.** Hence, by Remark 8.3, it is clear that "sequentially convergence complete" implies "sequentially convergence-adherence complete", but the converse implication need not be true.

### 9. SOME IMPORTANT OPERATIONS ON RELATORS

Among the several important refinements of relators, we shall only need here the following ones.

**Definition 9.1.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the relators

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}^* &= \left\{ S \subset X \times Y : \quad \exists \ R \in \mathcal{R} : \quad R \subset S \right\}, \\ \mathcal{R}^{\#} &= \left\{ S \subset X \times Y : \quad \forall \ A \subset X : \quad A \in \operatorname{Int}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( S(A) \right) \right\}, \\ \mathcal{R}^{\wedge} &= \left\{ S \subset X \times Y : \quad \forall \ x \in X : \quad x \in \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( S(x) \right) \right\}, \\ \mathcal{R}^{\Delta} &= \left\{ S \subset X \times Y : \quad \forall \ x \in X : \quad S(x) \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}} \right\} \end{aligned}$$

are called the uniform, proximal, topological and paratopological refinements of  $\mathcal{R}$ , respectively.

**Remark 9.1.** Thus, we have  $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{R}^* \subset \mathcal{R}^\# \subset \mathcal{R}^\wedge \subset \mathcal{R}^\wedge$  for any relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X. Moreover, we have  $\{R\}^\wedge = \{R\}^*$  and  $\{R\}^\triangle = (R \circ X^X)^*$  for any relation R on X.

By using the corresponding definitions, we can establish the following.

**Theorem 9.1.** If  $\Box \in \{*, \#, \land, \land\}$ , then  $\Box$  is a closure operation on the family of all relators on X in the sense that:

(1)  $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\square}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{\square} = \mathcal{R}^{\square\square}$  for any relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X;

(2)  $\mathcal{R}^{\Box} \subset \mathcal{S}^{\Box}$  whenever  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  are relators on X such that  $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{S}$ .

**Remark 9.2.** Now, by Remark 9.1 and Theorem 9.1, it is clear that we also have  $\mathcal{R}^{\triangle} = \mathcal{R}^{\Box \triangle} = \mathcal{R}^{\Box \Box}$ . Thus,  $\triangle$  is  $\Box$ -absorbing and  $\Box$ -invariant.

The appropriateness of the topological refinement is apparent from the following.

**Theorem 9.2.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then  $\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}$  is the largest relator on X such that

 $\operatorname{int}_{\ _{\mathcal{R}}}=\operatorname{int}_{\ _{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}}}, \qquad \quad \textit{resp.} \qquad \quad \operatorname{cl}_{\ _{\mathcal{R}}}=\operatorname{cl}_{\ _{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}}}.$ 

*Hint.* To prove the maximality of  $\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}$ , note that if  $\mathcal{S}$  is a relator on X such that  $\operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{S}} \subset \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}$ , then  $x \in \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{S}}(S(x)) \subset \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(S(x))$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $S \in \mathcal{S}$ . Therefore,  $S \in \mathcal{R}^{\wedge}$  for all  $S \in \mathcal{S}$ , and thus  $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\wedge}$ .

**Remark 9.3.** By this theorem and Remark 7.6, two relators  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  on X are called topologically equivalent if  $\mathcal{R}^{\wedge} = \mathcal{S}^{\wedge}$ . Moreover, a relator  $\mathcal{R}$  is called topologically simple if it is topologically equivalent to a singleton relator.

From the above theorem, by Definition 7.3, we have

**Corollary 9.3.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}} = \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}} = \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}}$ .

**Remark 9.4.** It is worth mentioning that if  $\mathcal{R}$  is a nonvoid relator on X, then we already have  $\tau_{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}} = \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$  and  $\tau_{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}} = \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$ .

By using the corresponding definitions, we can establish the following.

**Theorem 9.4.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then

 $\lim_{\mathcal{R}} = \lim_{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}} \quad and \quad adh_{\mathcal{R}} = adh_{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}}.$ 

**Remark 9.5.** It is worth mentioning that, by [195, Theorem 2.1], the relator  $\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}$  is always point-complete.

Analogous to Theorem 9.2, we can also prove the following theorem which is again a very particular case of some more general theorems proved by Pataki [144] and Száz [206].

**Theorem 9.5.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then  $\mathcal{R}^{\Delta}$  is the largest relator on X such that

 $\mathcal{E}_{_{\mathcal{R}}} = \mathcal{E}_{_{\mathcal{R}^{\scriptscriptstyle \Delta}}}, \qquad \textit{resp.} \qquad \mathcal{D}_{_{\mathcal{R}}} = \mathcal{D}_{_{\mathcal{R}^{\scriptscriptstyle \Delta}}}.$ 

**Remark 9.6.** We also note that if  $\mathcal{R}$  is a nonvoid and total relator on X, then we already have  $\tau_{_{\mathcal{R}^{\Delta}}} = \mathcal{T}_{_{\mathcal{R}^{\Delta}}} = \mathcal{E}_{_{\mathcal{R}^{\Delta}}} \cup \{\emptyset\}$  and  $\tau_{_{\mathcal{R}^{\Delta}}} = \mathcal{F}_{_{\mathcal{R}^{\Delta}}} = (\mathcal{P}(X) \setminus \mathcal{D}_{_{\mathcal{R}}}) \cup \{X\}.$ 

In addition to Definition 9.1, we have the following.

**Definition 9.2.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X then the relators

$$\mathcal{R}^{\infty} = \left\{ R^{\infty} : R \in \mathcal{R} \right\} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{R}^{\partial} = \left\{ S \subset X^{2} : S^{\infty} \in \mathcal{R} \right\}$$

are called the direct and inverse preorder modifications of  $\mathcal{R}$ , respectively.

**Remark 9.7.** Recall that if R is a relation on X, then  $R^{\infty}$  is the smallest preorder relation on X such that  $R \subset R^{\infty}$  (see [82]).

Moreover,  $R^{\infty}$  is the largest relation on X such that  $T_R = T_{R^{\infty}}$ , resp.  $\mathcal{F}_R = \mathcal{F}_{R^{\infty}}$  (see [115] and [206]).

By using the corresponding definitions, we can easily establish the following.

**Theorem 9.6.** If  $\Box = \infty$  or  $\partial$ , then  $\Box$  is a modification operation on the family of all relators on X in the sense that:

(1)  $\mathcal{R}_{-}^{\Box} = \mathcal{R}_{-}^{\Box\Box}$  for any relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X;

(2)  $\mathcal{R}^{\Box} \subset \mathcal{S}^{\Box}$  if  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  are relators on X such that  $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{S}$ .

**Remark 9.8.** Now, we see that  $\mathcal{R}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{R}^{*\infty} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\infty*} \subset \mathcal{R}^*$ , and hence  $\mathcal{R}^{*\infty} = \mathcal{R}^{\infty*\infty}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{\infty*} = \mathcal{R}^{*\infty*}$  for any relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X.

Moreover, for any two relators  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  on X, we have  $\mathcal{R}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{S}$  if and only if  $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{S}^{\partial}$ . Therefore, the mappings  $\infty$  and  $\partial$  establish an increasing Galois connection (see [47, p. 155]). Thus,  $\infty \partial$  is already a closure operation.

Now, as a counterpart of Theorem 9.5, we can also state the following theorem which was first proved by Mala [115] (see also [118]).

**Theorem 9.7.**  $\wedge \infty$  is a modification operation on the family of all relators on X such that, for any relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X,  $\mathcal{R}^{\wedge \infty}$  is the largest preorder relator on X such that

$$T_{\mathcal{R}} = T_{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge \infty}}, \qquad resp. \qquad \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}} = \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge \infty}}.$$

**Remark 9.9.** Mala has also proved that if  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then in general there does not exist a largest relator S on X such that  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}} = \mathcal{T}_{S}$ . This is another serious disadvantage of open sets to fat sets and interiors.

However, if  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then it can be shown that  $\mathcal{R}^{\sharp} = \mathcal{R}^{\#\partial}$  is the largest relator on X such that  $\tau_{\mathcal{R}} = \tau_{\mathcal{R}^{\sharp}}$ , resp.  $\tau_{\mathcal{R}} = \tau_{\mathcal{R}^{\sharp}}$ . However, the operation  $\sharp$  is not stable. That is  $\{X^2\} \neq \{X^2\}^{\sharp}$ .

Analogous to the definition of  $\mathcal{R}^{\infty}$ , we introduce the following.

**Definition 9.3.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X then the relator

$$\mathcal{R}^{-1} = \left\{ R^{-1} : R \in \mathcal{R} \right\}$$

is called the inverse of  $\mathcal{R}$ .

**Remark 9.10.** It can be shown that  $\operatorname{Cl}_{\mathcal{R}^{-1}} = \operatorname{Cl}_{\mathcal{R}}^{-1}$  and  $\tau_{\mathcal{R}} = \tau_{\mathcal{R}^{-1}}$ . Moreover,  $(\mathcal{R}^{\Box})^{-1} = (\mathcal{R}^{-1})^{\Box}$  if  $\Box \in \{*, \#, \infty, \partial\}$ .

However, the operations  $\wedge$  and  $\triangle$  are not inversion compatible. Therefore, we also need the notations  $\mathcal{R}^{\vee} = (\mathcal{R}^{\wedge})^{-1}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{\nabla} = (\mathcal{R}^{\triangle})^{-1}$ .

**Definition 9.4.** For any relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X, we write

$$\delta_{\mathcal{R}} = \bigcap \mathcal{R}$$
 and  $\sigma_{\mathcal{R}} = \bigcup \mathcal{R}$ .

Now, as an immediate consequence of Theorems 7.2 and 7.3, we can also state:

**Theorem 9.8.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then for any  $x \in X$  we have

$$\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(\{x\}) = \delta_{\mathcal{R}^{-1}}(x) = \delta_{\mathcal{R}}^{-1}(x).$$

**Remark 9.11.** Finally, we note that if  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  are relators on X, then we may also define  $\mathcal{R} \circ \mathcal{R} = \{R \circ R : R \in \mathcal{R}\},\$ 

 $\mathcal{R} \circ \mathcal{S} = \big\{ R \circ S: \ R \in \mathcal{R}, \ S \in \mathcal{S} \big\} \quad \text{ and } \quad \mathcal{R} \wedge \mathcal{S} = \big\{ R \cap S: \ R \in \mathcal{R}, \ S \in \mathcal{S} \big\}.$ 

### **10. Reflexive and Symmetric Relators**

By using the corresponding definitions, we can easily prove the following.

**Theorem 10.1.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is reflexive;
- (2)  $\delta_{\mathcal{R}}$  is reflexive;
- (3)  $A \subset \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$  (int  $_{\mathcal{R}}(A) \subset A$ ) for all  $A \subset X$ .

**Definition 10.1.** A relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X is called

- (1) quasi-topological if  $x \in int_{\mathcal{R}}(int_{\mathcal{R}}(R(x)))$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ ;
- (2) topological if for any  $x \in X$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exists  $V \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$  such that  $x \in V \subset R(x)$ .

**Remark 10.1.** Note that the inclusion  $x \in int_{\mathcal{R}}(R(x))$  trivially holds for all  $x \in X$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ .

Moreover, a singleton relator  $\{R\}$  on X is topological (quasi-topological) if and only if R is a preorder (transitive) relation on X.

The appropriateness of Definition 10.1 is apparent from the following theorems which have been mostly proved in [191, 192].

**Theorem 10.2.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is quasi-topological;
- (2) int  $_{\mathcal{R}}(R(x)) \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ ;
- (3) cl<sub> $\mathcal{R}$ </sub>(A)  $\in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$  (int<sub> $\mathcal{R}$ </sub>(A)  $\in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$ ) for all  $A \subset X$ .

**Remark 10.2.** By the above theorem, a relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X is called weakly (strongly) quasitopological if  $\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(\{x\}) \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$  for all  $x \in X$  ( $R(x) \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ ).

**Theorem 10.3.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topological;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is reflexive and quasi-topological;
- (3) int  $_{\mathcal{R}}(A) = \bigcup \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}} \cap \mathcal{P}(A)^{-} (\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A) = \bigcap \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}} \cap \mathcal{P}^{-1}(A))$  for all  $A \subset X$ .

**Remark 10.3.** By the above theorem, a relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X is called weakly (strongly) topological if it is reflexive and weakly (strongly) quasi-topological.

The importance of strongly topological relators lies mainly in the following.

**Theorem 10.4.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X and  $\mathbb{R}^{\circ}$  is a relation on X, for each  $\mathbb{R} \in \mathcal{R}$ , such that

$$R^{\circ}(x) = \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(R(x))$$

for all  $x \in X$ , then  $\mathcal{R}^{\circ} = \{R^{\circ}: R \in \mathcal{R}\}$  is a strongly topological relator on X such that:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is reflexive if and only if  $\mathcal{R} \subset (\mathcal{R}^{\circ})^{*}$ ;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is quasi-topological if and only if  $\mathcal{R}^{\circ} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\wedge}$ .

Now, as an immediate consequence of Theorems 10.3 and 10.4, we can also state:

**Corollary 10.5.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topological;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically equivalent to  $\mathcal{R}^{\circ}$ ;
- (3)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically equivalent to a strongly topological relator.

The following theorem also holds.

AJMAA

**Theorem 10.6.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topological;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically equivalent to  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}}(\mathcal{R}^{\wedge\infty})$ ;
- (3)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically equivalent to a preorder relator.

The quasi-topologicalness properties are closely related to the various transitivity properties of relators. However, before listing some transitivity properties, we consider a few symmetry properties.

**Definition 10.2.** If  $\Box$  is a unary operation for relators on *X*, then a relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on *X* is called  $\Box$ -symmetric if  $(\mathcal{R}^{\Box})^{-1} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\Box}$ .

**Remark 10.4.** Now, the relator  $\mathcal{R}$  may be called properly symmetric if it is symmetric with respect to the identity operation for relators. That is,  $\mathcal{R}^{-1} \subset \mathcal{R}$ , and thus  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}^{-1}$ .

On the other hand, the relator  $\mathcal{R}$  is called weakly (strongly) symmetric if  $\delta_{\mathcal{R}}$  (each member of  $\mathcal{R}$ ) is symmetric.

The appropriateness of the above definitions is apparent from the following theorems which have been mostly proved in [192, 193].

**Theorem 10.7.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X and  $\Box$  is an inversion compatible closure operation for relators on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $\Box$ -symmetric;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  are  $\Box$ -equivalent;
- (3)  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $\Box$ -equivalent to a properly symmetric relator.

**Remark 10.5.** Note that, by the corresponding definitions, (1) means only that  $(\mathcal{R}^{\Box})^{-1} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\Box}$ . And this is equivalent to  $\mathcal{R}^{-1} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\Box}$  by the assumed properties of  $\Box$ .

**Theorem 10.8.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically symmetric;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically simple and weakly symmetric;
- (3)  $A \cap \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(B) \neq \emptyset$  implies  $B \cap \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $A, B \subset X$ .

**Remark 10.6.** The above theorem shows that topological symmetry is a rather restrictive symmetry property. Namely, even a strongly symmetric relator need not be topologically symmetric.

Therefore, a relator  $\mathcal{R}$  may be called topologically semisymmetric if  $\mathcal{R}^{-1} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\wedge}$ . Note that thus we have  $\mathcal{R}^{\wedge} = (\mathcal{R}^{-1})^{\wedge}$  if and only if both  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  are topologically semisymmetric.

**Theorem 10.9.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is weakly symmetric;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically equivalent to  $\mathcal{R}^{\wedge} \cap \mathcal{R}^{\vee}$ ;
- (3)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically equivalent to a properly symmetric relator.

**Remark 10.7.** Note that if  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically semisymmetric, i.e.,  $\mathcal{R}^{-1} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\wedge}$ , then by Theorem 9.2  $\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} = \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}} \subset \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}^{-1}}$ . Hence, by Theorem 9.8,  $\delta_{\mathcal{R}}^{-1} \subset \delta_{\mathcal{R}}$ , and thus  $\mathcal{R}$  is weakly symmetric.

Curiously enough, weak symmetry is a most important symmetry property of relators. It corresponds to a famous regularity axiom  $R_o$  introduced by Shanin [180] and Davis [48] (see also [193, 196]).

### 11. TRANSITIVE AND FILTERED RELATORS

**Definition 11.1.** If  $\Box$  is a unary operation for relators on *X*, then a relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on *X* is called  $\Box$ -transitive if  $\mathcal{R}^{\Box\Box} \subset (\mathcal{R}^{\Box} \circ \mathcal{R}^{\Box})^{\Box}$ .

**Remark 11.1.** The relator  $\mathcal{R}$  is called strictly  $\Box$ -transitive if  $\mathcal{R}^{\Box\Box} \subset (\mathcal{R}^{\Box_0}\mathcal{R}^{\Box})^{\Box}$ .

The appropriateness of the above definition is apparent from the following theorems which have been mostly proved in [191, 192].

# **Theorem 11.1.** If $\mathcal{R}$ is a relator on X, then

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is uniformly transitive if and only if  $\mathcal{R} \subset (\mathcal{R} \circ \mathcal{R})^*$ ;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is proximally transitive if and only if  $\mathcal{R} \subset (\mathcal{R} \circ \mathcal{R})^{\#}$ ;
- (3)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically transitive if and only if  $\mathcal{R} \subset (\mathcal{R}^{\wedge} \circ \mathcal{R})^{\wedge}$ .

**Remark 11.2.** Due to the above theorem, a relator  $\mathcal{R}$  is called strongly topologically transitive if  $\mathcal{R} \subset (\mathcal{R} \circ \mathcal{R})^{\wedge}$ .

From the above theorem, we can easily derive the following.

**Corollary 11.2.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a reflexive relator on X, then

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is uniformly transitive if and only if  $\mathcal{R}^* = (\mathcal{R} \circ \mathcal{R})^*$ ;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is proximally transitive if and only if  $\mathcal{R}^{\#} = (\mathcal{R} \circ \mathcal{R})^{\#}$ ;
- (3)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically transitive if and only if  $\mathcal{R}^{\wedge} = (\mathcal{R}^{\wedge} \circ \mathcal{R})^{\wedge}$ .

*Hint.* By the reflexivity of  $\mathcal{R}$ , we have  $R = R \circ \Delta_X \subset R \circ S$  for all  $R, S \in \mathcal{R}$ . Therefore,  $\mathcal{R} \circ \mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{R}^*$ , and thus  $\mathcal{R}^{\wedge} \circ \mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\wedge} \circ \mathcal{R}^{\wedge} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\wedge *} = \mathcal{R}^{\wedge}$  also holds.

We also have the following.

**Theorem 11.3.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a nonvoid relator on X then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is quasi-topological;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically transitive.

*Hint.* If (2) holds, then by Theorem 11.1 we have  $\mathcal{R} \subset (\mathcal{R}^{\wedge} \circ \mathcal{R})^{\wedge}$ . Therefore, for any  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $x \in X$  there exist  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $T \in \mathcal{R}^{\wedge}$  such that  $T[S(x)] = (T \circ S)(x) \subset R(x)$ . This implies that  $T(u) \subset R(x)$  for all  $u \in S(x)$ . Therefore,  $S(x) \subset \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}^{\wedge}}(R(x)) = \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(R(x))$ . Hence, we can see that  $x \in \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(S(x)) \subset \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(\operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(R(x)))$ , and thus (1) also holds.

Now, as a vague analogue of Theorem 10.4, we state the following.

**Theorem 11.4.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a reflexive, topologically semisymmetic and strongly topologically transitive relator on X and  $\mathbb{R}^-$  is a relation on X, for each  $\mathbb{R} \in \mathcal{R}$ , such that

$$R^{-}(x) = \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(R(x))$$

for all  $x \in X$ , then  $\mathcal{R}^- = \{R^- : R \in \mathcal{R}\}$  is a reflexive, strongly topologically transitive relator on X such that  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^-$  are topologically equivalent.

**Remark 11.3.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a reflexive, topologically semisymmetric and uniformly transitive relator on X, then we can more easily prove that  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R}^-$  are uniformly equivalent. Thus  $\mathcal{R}^-$  is also uniformly transitive.

Now, by using Theorems 10.1 and 11.4 and Remark 11.3, we can easily prove the following theorems.

AJMAA

**Theorem 11.5.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a reflexive, topologically semisymmetic and strongly topologically transitive relator on X, then for any sequence  $(A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of subsets of X we have

(1)  $\lim_{\substack{n \to \infty \\ n \to \infty}} A_n = \lim_{\substack{n \to \infty \\ n \to \infty}} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A_n);$ (2)  $\operatorname{adh}_{\substack{n \to \infty \\ n \to \infty}} A_n = \operatorname{adh}_{\substack{n \to \infty \\ n \to \infty}} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A_n).$ 

*Proof.* Assume that  $x \in \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}} A_n$ ,  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then, by Theorem 11.4, there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(S(x)) \subset R(x)$ . Moreover, by Definition 8.2, there exists  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A_k \subset S(x)$ . Hence, it is already clear that  $\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A_k) \subset \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(S(x)) \subset R(x)$ . Therefore,  $x \in \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A_n)$  is also true. Thus, we have proved that  $\operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}} A_n \subset \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A_n)$ . The

converse inclusion is quite obvious from Definition 8.2 by Theorem 10.1.

**Theorem 11.6.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a reflexive, topologically semisimmetric and uniformly transitive relator on X and  $(A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $(A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is infinitesimal; (2)  $(a_n (A_n))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is infinitesimal;
- (2)  $\left(\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A_n)\right)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is infinitesimal.

*Proof.* By Remark 11.3, for any  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ , there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $S^- \subset R$ . This implies that cl<sub>R</sub>(S(x)) =  $S^-(x) \subset R(x)$  for all  $x \in X$ . Moreover, if (1) holds, then by Definition 8.1 there exist  $x \in X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A_n \subset S(x)$ . Hence, it is already clear that cl<sub>R</sub>( $A_n$ ) ⊂ cl<sub>R</sub>(S(x)) ⊂ R(x). Therefore, (2) is also true. The converse implication is quite obvious from Definition 8.1 by Theorem 10.1.

From this theorem, by Remark 8.1, it is clear that we also have:

**Corollary 11.7.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is as in the above theorem and A is a subset of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1) A is infinitesimal;
- (2) cl  $_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$  is infinitesimal.

Analogous to Definition 11.1, we may also introduce the following:

**Definition 11.2.** If  $\Box$  is a unary operation for relators on *X*, then a relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on *X* is called  $\Box$ -filtered if  $(\mathcal{R}^{\Box} \land \mathcal{R}^{\Box})^{\Box} \subset \mathcal{R}^{\Box\Box}$ .

**Remark 11.4.** Now, the relator  $\mathcal{R}$  is said to be properly filtered if it is filtered with respect to the identity operation for relators. That is,  $\mathcal{R} \wedge \mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{R}$ , and thus  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R} \wedge \mathcal{R}$ .

On the other hand, the relator  $\mathcal{R}$  is said to be totally filtered if for any  $R, S \in \mathcal{R}$  we have either  $R \subset S$  or  $S \subset R$ . Thus, a totally filtered relator is properly filtered.

The appropriateness of the above definitions is apparent from the following theorems which have been mostly proved in [192].

**Theorem 11.8.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X and  $\Box = *$  or  $\land$ , then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $\Box$ -filtered;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}^{\sqcup}$  is properly filtered;
- (3)  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{R} \wedge \mathcal{R}$  are  $\Box$ -equivalent.

**Remark 11.5.** If  $A \subset X$  and R and S are relations on X, then in general we only have  $(R \cap S)[A] \subset R[A] \cap S[A]$ .

Therefore, a relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X is called weakly proximally filtered if for any  $A \subset X$  and  $R, S \in \mathcal{R}$  there exists  $T \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $T[A] \subset R[A] \cap S[A]$ . This is actually more important than the proximal filteredness.

**Theorem 11.9.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically filtered;
- (2) cl<sub> $\mathcal{R}$ </sub> $(A \cup B) = cl_{\mathcal{R}}(A) \cup cl_{\mathcal{R}}(B)$  for all  $A, B \subset X$ ;
- (3) int  $_{\mathcal{R}}(A \cap B) = \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(A) \cap \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(B)$  for all  $A, B \subset X$ .

Hence, by Definition 7.3 and Theorem 10.3, we also have:

**Corollary 11.10.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a topological relator on X then the following assertions are equivalent.

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically filtered;
- (2)  $A \cap B \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$  for all  $A, B \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$ ;
- (3)  $A \cup B \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$  for all  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$ .

**Remark 11.6.** For an arbitrary relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X, assertions (2) and (3) are equivalent to the  $\wedge\infty$ -filteredness of  $\mathcal{R}$ .

To briefly state a useful theorem on convergence Cauchy sequences, in addition to Definitions 10.2 and 11.1, we shall need:

**Definition 11.3.** A relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X is called locally uniform if for each  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $x \in X$  there exist  $S, T \in \mathcal{R}$  such that

$$(S \circ S^{-1} \circ T)(x) \subset R(x).$$

**Remark 11.7.** Note that if  $\mathcal{R}$  is a reflexive, strongly symmetric and strictly uniformly transitive relator on X, then  $\mathcal{R}$  is already locally uniform.

Moreover, note that if  $\mathcal{R}$  is a uniformly filtered, strongly topologically transitive and proximally symmetric relator on X, then  $\mathcal{R}$  is also locally uniform.

**Theorem 11.11.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a locally uniform relator on X, then for any convergence Cauchy sequence A of non-void subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$  we have

$$\lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A) = \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}} (A).$$

*Proof.* By Remark 8.3, we need only show that  $\operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(A) \subset \lim_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$ . For this, assume that  $x \in \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ . Then, by the local uniformity of  $\mathcal{R}$ , there exist  $S, T \in \mathcal{R}$  such that

$$(S \circ S^{-1} \circ T)(x) \subset R(x).$$

Moreover, since A is convergence Cauchy, there exist  $u \in X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A_k \subset S(u)$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \ge n$ . Furthermore, since  $x \in \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$ , there exists  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , with  $l \ge n$ , such that  $A_l \subset T(x)$ .

Now, if  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $k \ge n$ , then by choosing  $a \in A_l$ , we can see that  $a \in T(x)$  and  $a \in S(u)$ , i.e.,  $u \in S^{-1}(a)$ . Therefore,  $u \in S^{-1}[T(x)]$ , and thus

$$A_k \subset S(u) \subset S\left[S^{-1}[T(x)]\right] = \left(S \circ S^{-1} \circ T\right)(x) \subset R(x).$$

Hence, it is clear that  $x \in \lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A)$  also holds.

Now, as an immediate consequence of the corresponding definitions and the above theorem, we can also state:

**Corollary 11.12.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a sequentially convergence-adherence point-complete (set-complete) locally uniform relator on X, then  $\mathcal{R}$  is already sequentially convergence point-complete (set-complete).

### 12. SEPARATED AND DIRECTED RELATORS

## **Definition 12.1.** A relator $\mathcal{R}$ on X is called

- (1)  $T_0$ -separating if for any  $x, y \in X$ , with  $x \neq y$ , there exists  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  such that either  $y \notin R(x)$  or  $x \notin R(y)$ ;
- (2)  $T_1$ -separating if for any  $x, y \in X$ , with  $x \neq y$ , there exists  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $y \notin R(x);$
- (3)  $T_2$ -separating if for any  $x, y \in X$ , with  $x \neq y$ , there exist  $R, S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $R(x) \cap S(y) = \emptyset.$

**Remark 12.1.** The relator  $\mathcal{R}$  is called strictly  $T_2$ -separating if for any  $x, y \in X$ , with  $x \neq y$ , there exists  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $R(x) \cap R(y) = \emptyset$ .

Moreover, the relator  $\mathcal{R}$  is called quasi- $T_2$ -separating if for any  $x, y \in X$ , with cl<sub> $\mathcal{R}$ </sub> ({x})  $\neq$ cl<sub> $\mathcal{R}$ </sub>({x}), there exist  $R, S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $R(x) \cap R(y) = \emptyset$ .

The following theorems have mostly been proved in [192] (see also [124, Ch. 3]).

**Theorem 12.1.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

(1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $T_0$ -separating;

(2) 
$$\delta_{\mathcal{R}^{-1}\wedge\mathcal{R}} \subset \Delta_X;$$

(3)  $\mathcal{R}$  is weakly antisymmetric.

**Theorem 12.2.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $T_1$ -separating:
- (2)  $\delta_{\mathcal{R}} \subset \Delta_X$ ; (3)  $\{x\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}} \text{ for all } x \in X$ .

**Remark 12.2.** It is clear that a  $T_1$ -separating relator is weakly transitive and weakly quasitopological.

As an immediate consequence of the above theorems, we can also state:

**Corollary 12.3.** A relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X is  $T_1$ -separating if and only if it is  $T_0$ -separating and weakly symmetric.

**Theorem 12.4.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $T_2$ -separating; (2)  $\delta_{\mathcal{R}^{-1}\circ\mathcal{R}} \subset \Delta_{X};$ (3)  $\Delta_{X}^{\mathcal{R}^{-1}\circ\mathcal{R}} \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}\boxtimes\mathcal{R}}.$

**Theorem 12.5.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a  $T_0$ -separating, topologically semisymmetric and strongly topologically transitive relator on X, then  $\mathcal{R}$  is already  $T_2$ -separating.

*Proof.* If  $x, y \in X$  such that  $x \neq y$ , then by the  $T_0$ -separatingness of  $\mathcal{R}$  there exists  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ such that either  $y \notin R(x)$  or  $x \notin R(y)$ . Assume, for instance, that  $y \notin R(x)$ . Now, by the strong topological transitivity of  $\mathcal{R}$ , there exist  $S, T \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $T[S(x)] \subset R(x)$ . Therefore,  $y \notin T[S(x)]$ , and thus  $S(x) \cap T^{-1}(y) = \emptyset$ . Moreover, since  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically semisymmetric, there exists  $U \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $U(y) \subset T^{-1}(y)$ . Therefore,  $S(x) \cap U(y) = \emptyset$ , and thus  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $T_2$ -separating.

We can also easily prove the following theorems concerning  $T_2$ -separating relators.

**Theorem 12.6.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a  $T_2$ -separating relator on X, then for any sequence A of nonvoid subsets of X the inclusions  $x \in \lim_{\pi} (A)$  and  $y \in adh_{\pi}(A)$  imply x = y.

*Proof.* Assume on the contrary that  $x \neq y$ . Then, by Definition 12.1, there exist  $R, S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $R(x) \cap S(y) = \emptyset$ . Moreover, by Definition 8.2, there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A_k \subset R(x)$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \geq n$ . Furthermore, by Definition 8.2, there exists  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , with  $k \geq n$ , such that  $A_k \subset S(y)$ . Therefore,  $A_k \subset R(x) \cap S(y) = \emptyset$ , and thus  $A_k = \emptyset$ . This contradiction proves the theorem.

**Corollary 12.7.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a  $T_2$ -separating relator on X, then  $\lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A)$  is at most a singleton for any sequence A of nonvoid subsets of X.

**Theorem 12.8.** If A is an infinitesimal subset of a relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  such that the relator  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  is strictly  $T_2$ -separating, then A is at most a singleton.

*Proof.* Assume, on the contrary, that there exist  $a, b \in A$  such that  $a \neq b$ . Then, since  $\mathcal{R}^{-1}$  is strictly  $T_2$ -separating, there exists  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $R^{-1}(a) \cap R^{-1}(b) = \emptyset$ . Moreover, since A is infinitesimal, there exists  $x \in X$  such that  $A \subset R(x)$ . Hence, it follows that  $a, b \in R(x)$ , and thus  $x \in R^{-1}(a) \cap R^{-1}(b) = \emptyset$ . This contradiction proves the theorem.

The following also holds.

**Theorem 12.9.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a uniformly symmetric relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

(1) R is strictly T<sub>2</sub>-separating;
 (2) R<sup>-1</sup> is strictly T<sub>2</sub>-separating.

*Proof.* If (1) holds, then for any  $x, y \in X$ , with  $x \neq y$ , there exists  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $R(x) \cap R(y) = \emptyset$ . Moreover, since  $\mathcal{R}$  is uniformly symmetric, there exists  $S \in R$  such that  $S \subset R^{-1}$ . Hence, it follows that  $S^{-1} \subset R$ , and thus  $S^{-1}(x) \subset R(x)$  and  $S^{-1}(y) \subset R(y)$ . Therefore, we also have  $S^{-1}(a) \cap S^{-1}(b) = \emptyset$ , and thus (2) also holds.

Now, in contrast to  $T_2$ -separatedness, we introduce some directedness properties.

**Definition 12.2.** A relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X is called

- (1) semi-directed if  $R(x) \cap S(y) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x, y \in X$  and  $R, S \in \mathcal{R}$ ;
- (2) quasi-directed if  $R(x) \cap S(y) \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$  for all  $x, y \in X$  and  $R, S \in \mathcal{R}$ .

**Remark 12.3.** The relator  $\mathcal{R}$  is said to be directed if it is both total and quasi-directed.

Note that thus a directed relator is semi-directed, and a semi-directed relator is necessarily total.

As a preliminary illustration of the above definitions, we immediately state the following:

**Example 12.1.** If  $\prec$  is a relation on X, then the relator  $\{\prec\}$  is semi-directed if and only if for each  $x, y \in X$  there exists  $z \in X$  such that  $x \prec z$  and  $y \prec z$ .

Moreover, if  $\prec$  is a transitive relation on X, then the relator  $\{\prec\}$  is directed if and only if it is semi-directed.

The appropriateness of the above definitions is also apparent from the following theorems which have mostly been proved in [192].

**Theorem 12.10.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is semi-directed;
- (2)  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}} \subset \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}};$
- (3)  $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$  for all  $A, B \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$ .

**Remark 12.4.** In the light of Theorem 12.4, the following assertions are also equivalent to the semi-directedness of  $\mathcal{R}$ :

(1)  $\mathcal{R}^{-1} \circ \mathcal{R} = \{X^2\};$ (2)  $\delta_{\mathcal{R}^{-1} \circ \mathcal{R}} = X^2;$ (3)  $\Delta_X \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R} \boxtimes \mathcal{R}}.$ 

**Theorem 12.11.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is quasi-directed;
- (2)  $A \cap B \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$  for all  $A, B \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$ ;
- (3)  $A \cap B \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}}$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$  and  $B \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}}$ .

## 13. A FEW BASIC FACTS ON VECTOR RELATORS

According to [205], we have the following:

**Definition 13.1.** A nonvoid family  $\mathcal{R}$  of relations on a vector space X is called a vector relator on X if

- (1) R(x) = x + R(0) for all  $x \in X$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ ;
- (2) R(0) is an absorbing balanced subset of X for all  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ ;
- (3) for each  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $S(0) + S(0) \subset R(0)$ .

**Remark 13.1.** In this case, we say that  $\mathcal{R}$  is a proper vector relator on X. Namely, if  $\Box$  is a unary operation for relators on X, then a relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X is called a  $\Box$ -vector relator if it is  $\Box$ -equivalent to a proper vector relator.

The appropriateness of the above definition is apparent from the following.

**Example 13.1.** If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a nonvoid family of preseminorms on X, then by Theorem 6.9 it is clear that the family  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{P}}$  of all surrounding  $B_r^p$ , where  $p \in \mathcal{P}$  and r > 0, is a vector relator on X.

**Remark 13.2.** Clearly, vector relators are somewhat more general objects than vector topologies. Namely, each vector topology  $\mathcal{T}$  on X can be derived from a nonvoid, directed family  $\mathcal{P}$  of preseminorms on X (see [237] and [121]).

From Definition 13.1, by using our former results on translation relations, we can easily derive several basic properties of vector relators.

**Theorem 13.1.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a vector relator on X, then

- (1) each member of  $\mathcal{R}$  is an absorbing, balanced translation relation on X;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is a strictly uniformly transitive, well-chained tolerance relator on X.

*Proof.* From Definition 13.1, by Theorems 4.1 and 6.6, it is clear that (1) is true. Hence, by Corollaries 5.18 and 5.15, we can see that  $\mathcal{R}$  is a well-chained tolerance relator on X.

Moreover, if  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ , then by Definition 13.1 there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $S(0) + S(0) \subset R(0)$ . Hence, by Theorem 5.14, it follows that  $S^2 = S \circ S \subset R$ . Therefore,  $\mathcal{R}$  is strictly uniformly transitive.

From the above theorem, by using Theorem 11.3 and Corollary 5.19, we can immediately derive:

**Corollary 13.2.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a vector relator on X, then  $\mathcal{R}$  is a topological relator on X such that  $\tau_{\mathcal{R}} = \tau_{\mathcal{R}} = \{\emptyset, X\}.$ 

**Remark 13.3.** The vector relator  $\mathcal{R}$  need not be strongly topological. Moreover, if  $\mathcal{R} \neq \{X^2\}$ , then  $\mathcal{R}$  is not proximal. Namely, if  $x \in X$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $R(x) \neq X$ , then by Corollary 13.2 there is no  $V \in \tau_{\mathcal{R}}$  such that  $x \in V \subset R(x)$ .

However, note that if  $\mathcal{P}$  is a nonvoid family of preseminorms on X, then by Remark 6.5 we have  $B_r^p(x) \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{P}}}$  for all  $x \in X$ , r > 0 and  $p \in \mathcal{P}$ . Therefore, the induced vector relator  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{P}}$  is already strongly topological.

**Theorem 13.3.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a vector relator on a vector space X over  $\mathbb{K}$ , then

- (1) for any  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $S(x) + S(y) \subset R(x+y)$  for all  $x, y \in X$ ;
- (2) for any  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $\lambda S(x) \subset R(\lambda x)$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  with  $|\lambda| \leq n$ .

*Proof.* To prove (2), note that if  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then from Definition 13.1, by induction, we can see that there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{2^n} S(0) \subset R(0).$$

Hence, since  $0 \in S(0)$ , it follows that  $\sum_{k=1}^{n} S(0) \subset R(0)$ . Now, if  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  such that  $|\lambda| \leq n$ , then by using the balanced property of S(0) we can see that

$$\lambda S(0) \subset nS(0) \subset \sum_{k=1}^{n} S(0) \subset R(0).$$

Thus, by the corresponding definitions, it is clear that

$$\lambda S(x) = \lambda \big( x + S(0) \big) = \lambda x + \lambda S(0) \subset \lambda x + R(0) = R(\lambda x)$$

for all  $x \in X$ .

**Remark 13.4.** Note that in the above theorem, we can also write any subsets A and B of X in place of the points x and y.

Now, concerning vector relators, we can also easily prove:

**Theorem 13.4.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a vector relator on a vector space X over  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\mathfrak{F} = \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}$  or  $\operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}$ , then

(1)  $\mathfrak{F}(A) + \mathfrak{F}(B) \subset \mathfrak{F}(A+B)$  for all  $A, B \subset X$ ;

(2)  $\mathfrak{F}(x+A) = x + \mathfrak{F}(A)$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $A \subset X$ ;

(3)  $\mathfrak{F}(\lambda A) = \lambda \mathfrak{F}(A)$  for all  $A \subset X$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  with  $\lambda \neq 0$ .

**Remark 13.5.** By using Theorems 10.1, 7.4, 13.4 and 10.2, we can see that  $\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A+B) = \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(A) + \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(B))$  for all  $A, B \subset X$ .

Moreover, by Theorems 9.8 and 13.1, it is clear that  $\delta_{\mathcal{R}}(x) = \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}^{-1}}(\{x\}) = \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(\{x\})$  for all  $x \in X$ . Hence, by using Theorems 13.4 and 10.2, we can easily see that  $\delta_{\mathcal{R}}$  is a closed-valued, linear equivalence relation on X.

By using Theorem 13.4, we can also establish the following:

**Theorem 13.5.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a vector relator on a vector space X over  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\mathcal{A} \in \{\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}, \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}, \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}, \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{R}}\}$ , then

(1)  $x + A \in \mathcal{A}$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ ;

(2)  $\lambda A \in \mathcal{A}$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$  with  $\lambda \neq 0$ .

In addition to Definition 13.1, we also introduce:

**Definition 13.2.** A vector relator  $\mathcal{R}$  on X is called

- (1) convex if R(0) is a convex subset of X for all  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ ;
- (2) separating if for any  $x \in X$ , with  $x \neq 0$ , there exists R such that  $x \notin R(0)$ ;
- (3) filtered if for any  $R, S \in \mathcal{R}$  there exists  $T \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $T(0) \subset R(0) \cap S(0)$ .

The appropriateness of this definition is apparent from:

**Example 13.2.** If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a nonvoid family of seminorms on X, then the vector relator  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{P}}$  is convex. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a nonvoid, directed (separating) family of preseminorms on X, then the vector relator  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{P}}$  is filtered (separating).

Moreover, as useful consequences of the corresponding definitions and theorems, we have the following theorems.

**Theorem 13.6.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a vector relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is convex;
- (2) each member of  $\mathcal{R}$  is a convex relation on X.

**Theorem 13.7.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a vector relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is separating;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $T_0$ -separating;
- (3)  $\mathcal{R}$  is strictly  $T_2$ -separating.

*Proof.* If (2) holds, then from Theorems 13.1 and 12.5 we can see that  $\mathcal{R}$  is  $T_2$ -separating. Hence, it is clear that (1) also holds.

On the other hand, if (1) holds, then for any  $x, y \in X$ , with  $x \neq y$ , there exists  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $x - y \notin R(0)$ . Hence, it follows that  $x \notin R(0) + y = y + R(0) = R(y)$ . Moreover, by Theorem 13.1, there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $S^2 \subset R$ . This implies that  $S[S(y)] = S^2(y) \subset R(y)$ . Therefore, we also have  $x \notin S[S(y)]$ , which implies that  $S(x) \cap S(y) = S^{-1}(x) \cap S(y) = \emptyset$ . Therefore, (3) also holds.

By Theorems 12.2 and 13.5, we also have:

**Corollary 13.8.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a vector relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is separating;
- (2)  $\{0\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}};$
- (3)  $\{x\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$  for all  $x \in X$ ;
- (4)  $\{x\} \in \mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{R}}$  for some  $x \in X$ .

By using Theorem 5.14, we can establish:

**Theorem 13.9.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a vector relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is filtered;
- (2)  $\mathcal{R}$  is uniformly filtered;
- (3)  $\mathcal{R}$  is topologically filtered.

**Remark 13.6.** By Corollaries 13.2 and 11.10, it is clear that  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{R}}$  is a vector topology on X if and only if  $\mathcal{R}$  is filtered.

Finally, we note that the following theorem is also true.

**Theorem 13.10.** If  $\mathcal{R}$  is a vector relator on X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\mathcal{R}$  is semi-directed;
- (2)  $R(x) \cap R(0) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ ;
- (3)  $\mathcal{R} = \{X^2\};$
- (4)  $\mathcal{R}$  is directed.

*Hint.* If  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ , then by Theorem 13.1 there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $S \circ S \subset R$ . Moreover, if (2) holds, then for any  $x \in X$  we have  $S(x) \cap S(0) \neq \emptyset$ . Hence, it follows that  $x \in S^{-1}[S(0)] = S[S(0)] = (S \circ S)(0) \subset R(0)$ . Therefore, R(0) = X, and thus R(x) = x + R(0) = x + X = X also holds. Hence, it is clear that  $R = X^2$ , and thus (3) also holds.

### 14. FURTHER RESULTS ON SEQUENCES OF SETS

**Theorem 14.1.** If A is a sequence of subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  over  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K} \setminus \{0\}$ , then

(1)  $\lim_{\mathcal{R}} (\lambda A) = \lambda \lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A);$ 

(2) adh  $_{\mathcal{R}}(\lambda A) = \lambda \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(A).$ 

*Proof.* Suppose that  $x \in adh_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ . Then, by Theorem 13.3, there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that

$$\lambda S(x) \subset R(\lambda x).$$

Moreover, by Definition 8.2, for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists  $k \ge n$  such that  $A_k \subset S(x)$ . Hence,

$$(\lambda A)_{k} = \lambda A_{k} \subset \lambda S(x) \subset R(\lambda x).$$

Therefore,  $\lambda x \in \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(\lambda A)$  also holds.

Thus, we have proved that  $\lambda \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(A) \subset \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(\lambda A)$ . Now, by writing  $\lambda^{-1}$  in place of  $\lambda$  and  $\lambda A$  in place of A, we can see that

$$\lambda^{-1} \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(\lambda A) \subset \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(\lambda^{-1}\lambda A) = \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(A),$$

and thus  $\operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(\lambda A) \subset \lambda \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(A)$  also holds.

**Corollary 14.2.** If A is a convergence (adherence) null sequence of subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  over  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ , then  $\lambda A$  is also a convergence (adherence) null sequence of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

**Theorem 14.3.** If a is a point and B is a sequence of subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then

(1)  $\lim_{\mathcal{R}} (a+B) = a + \lim_{\mathcal{R}} (B);$ 

(2)  $\operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(a+B) = a + \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(B).$ 

*Proof.* If  $x \in a + adh_{\mathcal{R}}(B)$ , then there exists  $b \in adh_{\mathcal{R}}(B)$  such that x = a + b. Moreover, for any  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $k \ge n$  such that  $B_k \subset R(b)$ . Hence, it is clear that

$$a + B_k \subset a + R(b) = R(a + b) = R(x)$$

Therefore,  $x \in adh_{\mathcal{R}}(a+B)$  also holds.

Thus, we have proved that  $a + adh_{\mathcal{R}}(B) \subset adh_{\mathcal{R}}(a+B)$ . Now, by writing -a in place of a and a + B in place of B, we can see that

$$-a + \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(a+B) \subset \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(-a+a+B) = \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(B),$$

and thus  $\operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(a+B) \subset a + \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(B)$  also holds.

**Theorem 14.4.** If A and B are sequences of subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then

- (1)  $\lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A) + \lim_{\mathcal{R}} (B) \subset \lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A+B);$
- (2)  $\lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A) + \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}} (B) \subset \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}} (A+B).$

*Proof.* If  $x \in \lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A) + \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(B)$ , then there exist  $a \in \lim_{\mathcal{R}} (A)$  and  $b \in \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(B)$  such that x = a + b. Moreover, if  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ , then by Theorem 13.3, there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that

$$S(a) + S(b) \subset R(a+b) = R(x)$$

Now, by the corresponding definitions, we can see that there exists  $n_1 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A_k \subset S(a)$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \ge n_1$ . Moreover, if  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $m = \max\{n_1, n\}$ , then there exists  $k \ge m$  such that  $B_k \subset S(b)$ . Hence, it is clear that  $k \ge n$  such that

$$A_k + B_k \subset S(a) + S(b) \subset R(x).$$

Therefore,  $x \in \operatorname{adh}_{\mathcal{R}}(A+B)$  also holds.

**Corollary 14.5.** If A is a convergent and B is a convergence (adherence) null sequence of subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then A+B is a convergence (adherence) null sequence of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

Analogous to Theorem 14.1, we can also prove the following theorems.

**Theorem 14.6.** If A is an infinitesimal sequence of subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  over  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ , then  $\lambda A$  is also an infinitesimal sequence of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

**Corollary 14.7.** If A is an infinitesimal subset of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  over  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ , then  $\lambda A$  is also an infinitesimal subset of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

**Theorem 14.8.** If A is a convergence (adherence) Cauchy sequence of subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  over  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ , then  $\lambda A$  is also a convergence (adherence) Cauchy sequence of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

*Proof.* If  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ , then by Theorem 13.3 there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that

$$\lambda S(x) \subset R(\lambda x)$$

for all  $x \in X$ . Moreover, if A is adherence Cauchy, then by Definition 8.3, there exists  $x \in X$  such that for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists  $k \ge n$  such that  $A_k \subset S(x)$ . Hence, it is clear that

$$(\lambda A)_k = \lambda A_k \subset \lambda S(x) \subset R(\lambda x).$$

Therefore, the sequence  $\lambda A$  is also adherence Cauchy.

**Theorem 14.9.** If A is an infinitesimal subset and B is an infinitesimal sequence of subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then A + B is also an infinitesimal sequence of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

**Corollary 14.10.** If A and B are infinitesimal subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then A + B is also an infinitesimal subset of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

**Theorem 14.11.** If A is a convergence Cauchy and B is a convergence (adherence) Cauchy sequence of subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then A+B is also a convergence (adherence) Cauchy sequence of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

*Proof.* If  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ , then by Theorem 13.3 there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that

$$S(x) + S(y) \subset R(x+y)$$

for all  $x, y \in X$ . Moreover, by Definition 8.3, there exist  $x \in X$  and  $n_o \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $A_k \subset S(x)$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \ge n_o$ . Furthermore, if B is adherence Cauchy, then by Definition 8.3 there exists  $y \in X$  such that for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists  $k \ge n$  such that  $B_k \subset S(y)$ . Therefore, if  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $m = \max\{n_o, n\}$ , then there exists  $k \ge m$  such that  $B_k \subset S(y)$ . Hence,

$$(A+B)_k = A_k + B_k \subset S(x) + S(y) \subset R(x+y)$$

and therefore, the sequence A + B is also adherence Cauchy.

In the sequel, we will need the following curious theorem on the pointwise union of sequences of sets.

**Theorem 14.12.** If A is convergence (adherence) Cauchy and B and C are convergence null sequences of subsets of a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then  $(A + B) \cup (A + C)$  is also a convergence (adherence) Cauchy sequence of subsets of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

*Proof.* If  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ , then by Theorem 13.3 there exists  $S \in \mathcal{R}$  such that

$$S(x) + S(y) \subset R(x+y)$$

for all  $x, y \in X$ . Moreover, since B and C are convergence null, there exist  $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $B_k \subset S(0)$  and  $C_l \subset S(0)$  for all  $k, l \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \ge n_1$  and  $l \ge n_2$ . Furthermore, if A is adherence Cauchy, then there exists  $x \in X$  such that for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists  $k \ge n$  such that  $A_k \subset S(x)$ . Therefore, if  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $m = \max\{n_1, n_2, n\}$ , then there exists  $k \ge m$  such that  $A_k \subset S(x)$ . Hence, it is clear that

$$(A+B)_k = A_k + B_k \subset S(x) + S(0) \subset R(x)$$

and

$$(A+C)_k = A_k + C_k \subset S(x) + S(0) \subset R(x).$$

Therefore, we also have

$$\left(\left(A+B\right)\cup\left(A+C\right)\right)_n=(A+B)_n\cup(A+C)_n\subset R(x).$$

Thus, the sequence  $(A + B) \cup (A + C)$  is also adherence Cauchy.

### **15. THE ASSOCIATED HYERS SEQUENCES**

According to [61], we introduce the following:

**Definition 15.1.** If F is a relation on a groupoid U to a vector space X, then for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we define a relation  $F_n$  on U to X such that

$$F_n(u) = \frac{1}{2^n} F(2^n u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, in accordance with this notation, we write  $F_0 = F$ .

**Remark 15.1.** In recognition of the pioneering work of Hyers [90], the sequence  $(F_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  will be called the Hyers sequence associated with F.

Functional generalizations of Hyers' sequences have formerly been given by Rassias [158], Lee and Jun [111], Gilányi, Kaiser and Páles [81].

We can easily prove the following theorems concerning Hyers' sequences.

**Theorem 15.1.** If *F* is a relation of a groupoid *U* to a vector space *X*, then for any  $A \subset U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$F_n[A] = \frac{1}{2^n} F[2^n A].$$

*Proof.* By using the corresponding definitions and the fact that unions are preserved under relations, we see that

$$F_n[A] = \bigcup_{u \in A} F_n(u) = \bigcup_{u \in A} \frac{1}{2^n} F(2^n u) = \frac{1}{2^n} \bigcup_{u \in A} F(2^n u)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2^n} \bigcup_{u \in A} F(\{2^n u\}) = \frac{1}{2^n} F\left(\bigcup_{u \in A} \{2^n u\}\right) = \frac{1}{2^n} F[2^n A].$$

**Theorem 15.2.** If *F* is a relation of a groupoid *U* to a vector space *X* and *G* is a relation of *X* to another vector space *Y*, then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$(G \circ F)_n = G_n \circ F_n.$$

Proof. By the corresponding definitions and Theorem 15.1,

$$(G \circ F)_n(u) = \frac{1}{2^n} (G \circ F) (2^n u)$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2^n} G \left[ F(2^n u) \right]$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2^n} G \left[ 2^n \frac{1}{2^n} F(2^n u) \right]$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2^n} G \left[ 2^n F_n(u) \right]$$
  
$$= G_n \left[ F_n(u) \right] = (G_n \circ F_n)(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, the required equality is also true.

**Theorem 15.3.** If F is a relation of one vector space X onto another Y, then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$\left(F_n\right)^{-1} = \left(F^{-1}\right)_n$$

*Proof.* By the corresponding definitions, for any  $x \in X$  and  $y \in Y$ , we have

$$x \in (F_n)^{-1}(y) \iff y \in F_n(x)$$
$$\iff y \in \frac{1}{2^n} F(2^n x)$$
$$\iff 2^n y \in F(2^n x)$$
$$\iff 2^n x \in F^{-1}(2^n y)$$
$$\iff x \in \frac{1}{2^n} F^{-1}(2^n y)$$
$$\iff x \in (F^{-1})_n(y).$$

We note the following:

**Theorem 15.4.** If F is a relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then for any  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$\left(F_n\right)_m = F_{n+m}$$

*Proof.* By Definition 15.1 and Theorem 3.1, it is clear that

$$(F_n)_m(u) = \frac{1}{2^m} F_n(2^m u)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2^m} \left( \frac{1}{2^n} F\left(2^n(2^m u)\right) \right)$   
=  $\left( \frac{1}{2^n} \frac{1}{2^m} \right) F\left((2^n 2^m) u\right)$   
=  $\frac{1}{2^{n+m}} F(2^{n+m} u) = F_{n+m}(u)$ 

for all  $u \in U$ .

**Corollary 15.5.** If F is a relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then for any  $u \in U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$F_n(2u) = 2F_{n+1}(u).$$

*Proof.* By Definition 15.1 and Theorem 15.4, it is clear that

$$F_n(2u) = 2\frac{1}{2}F_n(2u) = 2(F_n)_1(u) = 2F_{n+1}(u).$$

**Remark 15.2.** If F is a relation of a groupoid U to a vector space X, then by the corresponding definitions we also have  $F_0(2u) = 2F_1(u)$  for all  $u \in U$ .

**Theorem 15.6.** If F is a relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists a selection  $f_{(n)}$  of  $F_n$  such that

$$f_{(n)}(2u) = 2f_{(n+1)}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

*Proof.* If  $f_{(n)}$  is a selection of  $F_n$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $f_{(n+1)} = (f_{(n)})_1$ , then by Definition 15.1 and Corollary 15.5 we have

$$f_{(n+1)}(u) = \left(f_{(n)}\right)_1(u) = \frac{1}{2}f_{(n)}(2u) \in \frac{1}{2}F_n(2u) = \frac{1}{2}2F_{n+1}(u) = F_{n+1}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore,  $f_{(n+1)}$  is a selection of  $F_{n+1}$ . Moreover, by the above computation, we also have  $f_{(n)}(2u) = 2f_{(n+1)}(u)$  for all  $u \in U$ . Hence, by induction, the required assertion is also true.

## 16. FURTHER RESULTS ON HYERS' SEQUENCES

We now prove the following theorems concerning Hyers' sequences.

**Theorem 16.1.** If *F* and *G* are relations of a groupoid U to a vector space X such that  $F \subset G$ , then  $F_n \subset G_n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Corollary 16.2.** If F is a relation of a groupoid U to a vector space X and f is a selection of F, then  $f_n$  is a selection of  $F_n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Theorem 16.3.** If *F* and *G* are relations of a groupoid U to a vector space X over  $\mathbb{K}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ , then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

(1)  $(F+G)_n = F_n + G_n$ ; (2)  $(\lambda F)_n = \lambda F_n$ .

Proof. Clearly,

$$(F+G)_n(u) = \frac{1}{2^n}(F+G)(2^n u)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2^n}(F(2^n u) + G(2^n u))$   
=  $\frac{1}{2^n}F(2^n u) + \frac{1}{2^n}G(2^n u)$   
=  $F_n(u) + G_n(u) = (F_n + G_n)(u)$ 

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, (1) is true.

Assertion (2) can be immediately derived from the following.

37

**Theorem 16.4.** Suppose that F is a relation of a groupoid U to a vector space X and \* is a unary operation on  $\mathcal{P}(X)$  such that

$$\left(\frac{1}{2}A\right)^* = \frac{1}{2}A^*$$

for all  $A \subset X$ . Define a relation  $F^*$  on U to X such that  $F^*(u) = F(u)^*$  for all  $u \in U$ . Then, for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$\left(F^*\right)_n = \left(F_n\right)^*.$$

*Proof.* Now, by induction,

$$\left(\frac{1}{2^n}A\right)^* = \frac{1}{2^n}A^*$$

holds for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $A \subset X$ . Therefore, we have

$$(F^*)_n(u) = \frac{1}{2^n} F^*(2^n u)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2^n} F(2^n u)^*$   
=  $(\frac{1}{2^n} F(2^n u))^*$   
=  $(F_n(u))^* = (F_n)^*(u)$ 

for all  $u \in U$ . Thus, the required equality is also true.

By Theorem 13.4, we also have:

**Theorem 16.5.** If F is a relation of a groupoid U to a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  and

$$F^{\circ}(u) = \operatorname{int}_{\mathcal{R}}(F(u))$$
 and  $F^{-}(u) = \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}(F(u))$ 

for all  $u \in U$ , then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

(1)  $(F^{\circ})_n = (F_n)^{\circ};$ (2)  $(F^{-})_n = (F_n)^{-}.$ 

Finally, we note that the following theorem is also true.

**Theorem 16.6.** If  $(F_{(i)})_{i \in I}$  is a family of relations of a groupoid U to a vector space X, then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

(1) 
$$F = \bigcup_{i \in I} F_{(i)}$$
 implies  $F_n = \bigcup_{i \in I} (F_{(i)})_n$ ;  
(2)  $F = \bigcap_{i \in I} F_{(i)}$  implies  $F_n = \bigcap_{i \in I} (F_{(i)})_n$ .

*Proof.* If the condition of (2) holds, then

$$F_n(u) = \frac{1}{2^n} F(2^n u)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2^n} \left( \bigcap_{i \in I} F_{(i)} \right) (2^n u)$   
=  $\frac{1}{2^n} \bigcap_{i \in I} F_{(i)} (2^n u)$   
=  $\bigcap_{i \in I} \frac{1}{2^n} F_{(i)} (2^n u)$   
=  $\bigcap_{i \in I} (F_{(i)})_n (u) = \left( \bigcap_{i \in I} (F_{(i)})_n \right) (u)$ 

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, the conclusion of (2) also holds.

**Corollary 16.7.** If  $(F_{(i)})_{i=1}^{\infty}$  is a sequence of relations of a groupoid U to a vector space X, then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

(1) 
$$F = \lim_{i \to \infty} F_{(i)}$$
 implies  $F_n = \lim_{i \to \infty} (F_{(i)})_n$ ;  
(2)  $F = \lim_{i \to \infty} F_{(i)}$  implies  $F_n = \lim_{i \to \infty} (F_{(i)})_n$ .

*Proof.* If the condition of (2) holds, then by Theorem 16.6 we also have

$$F_{n} = \left(\overline{\lim_{i \to \infty}} F_{(i)}\right)_{n}$$
$$= \left(\bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{j=i}^{\infty} F_{(j)}\right)_{n}$$
$$= \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} \left(\bigcup_{j=i}^{\infty} F_{(j)}\right)_{n}$$
$$= \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{j=i}^{\infty} \left(F_{(j)}\right)_{n} = \overline{\lim_{i \to \infty}} \left(F_{(i)}\right)_{n}.$$

**Remark 16.1.** The latter corollary can be naturally extended to nets of relations. However, in the remainder of this paper we shall only be interested in sequences of relations.

# 17. APPROXIMATELY SUBHOMOGENEOUS RELATIONS

**Definition 17.1.** A relation F on one groupoid U to another V is called *n*-homogeneous, for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , if

$$F(nu) = nF(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, F is called N-homogeneous if it is n-homogeneous for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Example 17.1.** If f is an additive function of one groupoid U to another V, then by induction it can be easily seen that f is  $\mathbb{N}$ -homogeneous.

**Remark 17.1.** If p is only a 2-homogeneous and subadditive (or Jensen convex) function of a vector space X, then p is already  $\mathbb{N}$ -homogeneous (for the proofs, see [35]).

39

**Example 17.2.** If A is a non-void subset of a semigroup U and F(n) = nA for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then by Theorem 3.1, F is an N-homogeneous relation of N to U.

**Theorem 17.1.** If F is a relation of a groupoid U to a vector space X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

(1) F<sub>1</sub> = F;
(2) F is 2-homogeneous.

*Proof.* For any  $u \in U$ , we have

$$F_1(u) = F(u) \iff \frac{1}{2}F(2u) = F(u) \iff F(2u) = 2F(u).$$

**Theorem 17.2.** If F is a 2-homogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then  $F_n = F$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

*Proof.* By Theorems 15.4 and 17.1, for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$F_{n+1} = F_{1+n} = (F_1)_n = F_n.$$

Hence, by induction,  $F_n = F_1 = F$  also holds.

**Corollary 17.3.** If F is a relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X and f is a 2-homogeneous selection of F, then f is also a selection of the relation  $G = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n$ .

*Proof.* By Theorem 17.2,  $f = f_n$ . Moreover, by Corollary 16.2,  $f_n$  is a selection of  $F_n$ . Therefore, f is also a selection of  $F_n$ .

**Definition 17.2.** A relation F on one groupoid U to another V is called *n*-subhomogeneous, for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , if

$$F(nu) \subset nF(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, F is called N-subhomogeneous if it is n-subhomogeneous for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Example 17.3.** If R is a translation relation on a vector space X such that  $n^{-1}R(0) \subset R(0)$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then R is N-subhomogeneous.

Namely, by Theorem 4.1, we have

$$R(nx) = nx + R(0) = n\left(x + \frac{1}{n}R(0)\right) \subset n\left(x + R(0)\right) = nR(x)$$

for all  $x \in X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Definition 17.3.** A relation F on one groupoid U to another V is called  $\Phi$ -approximately n-subhomogeneous, for some relation  $\Phi$  on U to V and some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , if

$$F(nu) \subset nF(u) + \Phi(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, F is called  $\Phi$ -approximately  $\mathbb{N}$ -subhomogeneous if it is  $\Phi$ -approximately *n*-subhomogeneous for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Remark 17.2.** If F is a relation of a groupoid U to a groupoid V with zero and  $\Theta(u) = \{0\}$  for all  $u \in U$ , then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1) F is n-subhomogeneous;
- (2) F is  $\Theta$ -approximately n-subhomogeneous.

It is important to note that Definition 17.3 is a natural generalization of Definition 4.1 of [88].

**Example 17.4.** If f is a function of a groupoid U to a normed space X,  $\varphi$  is a non-negative function of U and  $\Phi_{\varphi}$  is a relation of U to X such that

$$\Phi_{\varphi}(u) = B_{\varphi(u)}(0)$$

for all  $u \in U$ , then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1) f is  $\varphi$ -approximately n-homogeneous;
- (2) f is  $\Phi_{\varphi}$ -approximately *n*-subhomogeneous.

Namely, by the corresponding definition, (1) means only that

$$\left\|f(nu) - nf(u)\right\| \le \varphi(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . And this is equivalent to the requirement that

$$f(nu) - nf(u) \in B_{\varphi(u)}(0),$$

or equivalently

$$f(nu) \in nf(u) + \bar{B}_{\varphi(u)}(0) = nf(u) + \Phi_{\varphi}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

Remark 17.3. In addition to the above example, note that

$$\begin{split} \left(\Phi_{\varphi}\right)_{n}(u) &= \frac{1}{2^{n}} \Phi_{\varphi}(2^{n}u) \\ &= \frac{1}{2^{n}} \bar{B}_{\varphi(2^{n}u)}(0) \\ &= \bar{B}_{\frac{1}{2^{n}}\varphi(2^{n}u)}(0) = \bar{B}_{\varphi_{n}}(u)(0) = \Phi_{\varphi_{n}}(u) \end{split}$$

for all  $u \in U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thus,  $(\Phi_{\varphi})_n = \Phi_{\varphi_n}$  also holds for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Theorem 17.4.** If F and  $\Phi$  are relations of a groupoid U to a vector space X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $F_1 \subset F + \frac{1}{2}\Phi;$
- (2) *F* is  $\Phi$ -approximately 2–subhomogeneous.

*Proof.* For any  $u \in U$ , we have

$$F_1(u) \subset \left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Phi\right)(u) \iff \frac{1}{2}F(2u) \subset F(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Phi(u)$$
$$\iff F(2u) \subset 2F(u) + \Phi(u).$$

The  $\Phi = U \times \{0\}$  particular case of the above theorem immediately yields

**Corollary 17.5.** If F is a relation of a groupoid U to a vector space X, then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (1)  $F_1 \subset F;$
- (2) F is 2-subhomogeneous.

### 18. FURTHER RESULTS ON SUBHOMOGENEOUS RELATIONS

**Theorem 18.1.** If F is a  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then for any  $n \in \{0\} \cup \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$F_{n+1} \subset F_n + \frac{1}{2}\Phi_n.$$

Proof. By Theorem 17.4 and Remark 15.1, we have

$$F_1 \subset F + \frac{1}{2}\Phi = F_0 + \frac{1}{2}\Phi_0.$$

Therefore, the required inclusion is true for n = 0. Moreover, if the required inclusion is true for some  $n \in \{0\} \cup \mathbb{N}$ , then by Theorems 15.4, 16.1 and 16.3,

$$F_{n+2} = \left(F_{n+1}\right)_1 \subset \left(F_n + \frac{1}{2}\Phi_n\right)_1 = (F_n)_1 + \frac{1}{2}\left(\Phi_n\right)_1 = F_{n+1} + \frac{1}{2}\Phi_{n+1}$$

Therefore, the required inclusion is also true for n + 1.

The  $\Phi = U \times \{0\}$  particular case of the above theorem immediately yields:

**Corollary 18.2.** If F is a 2-subhomogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then  $(F_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a decreasing sequence of subsets of F.

In this respect, it is also worth proving the following.

**Theorem 18.3.** If F is a 2-subhomogeneous relation on a semigroup U to a vector space X, then the relation  $G = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n$  is already 2-homogeneous.

*Proof.* If  $u \in U$ , then by Corollaries 15.5 and 18.2 we have

$$G(2u) = \left(\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n\right)(2u) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n(2u) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} 2F_{n+1}(u)$$
  
=  $2\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} F_{n+1}(u) = 2\bigcap_{n=2}^{\infty} F_n(u) = 2\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n(u) = 2\left(\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n\right)(u) = 2G(u).$ 

Namely, we have  $F_2(u) \subset F_1(u)$ , and thus  $F_1(u) \cap F_2(u) = F_2(u)$ .

**Theorem 18.4.** If F is a  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then  $F_n$  is  $\Phi_n$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

*Proof.* By Theorems 15.4 and 18.1, we have

$$\left(F_{n}\right)_{1} = F_{n+1} \subset F_{n} + \frac{1}{2}\Phi_{n}$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Therefore, Theorem 17.4 can be applied.

The  $\Phi = U \times \{0\}$  particular case of the above theorem immediately yields:

**Corollary 18.5.** If F is a 2-subhomogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then  $F_n$  is also 2-subhomogeneous for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

By using Theorem 18.1, we can also prove:

**Theorem 18.6.** If F is a  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$F_n \subset F + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \Phi_i.$$

*Proof.* By Theorem 17.4 and Remark 15.1, we have

$$F_1 \subset F_0 + \frac{1}{2}\Phi_0 = F + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{1-1}\Phi_i.$$

Therefore, the required inclusion is true for n = 1. Moreover, if the required inclusion is true for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then by Theorem 18.1 we also obtain

$$F_{n+1} \subset F_n + \frac{1}{2}\Phi_n \subset F + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{n-1}\Phi_i + \frac{1}{2}\Phi_n = F + \frac{1}{2}\left(\sum_{i=0}^{n-1}\Phi_i + \Phi_n\right) = F + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{n+1-1}\Phi_i.$$

Therefore, the required inclusion is also true for n + 1.

Now, as a common generalization of Theorems 18.1 and 18.6, we have:

**Theorem 18.7.** If F is a  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then for any  $n \in \{0\} \cup \mathbb{N}$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$F_{n+k} \subset F_n + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=n}^{n+k-1} \Phi_i$$

*Proof.* By Theorems 15.4, 18.6, 16.1 and 16.3, we obtain

$$F_{n+k} = (F_k)_n \subset \left(F + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \Phi_i\right)_n$$
  
=  $F_n + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{k-1} (\Phi_i)_n = F_n + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \Phi_{n+i} = F_n + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=n}^{n+k-1} \Phi_j$ 

**Definition 18.1.** If  $\Phi$  is a relation on one groupoid U to another V, then we define

$$\Gamma_{\Phi} = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \Phi_i.$$

**Theorem 18.8.** If  $\Phi$  is a relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have

$$\Gamma_{\Phi_n} = \left(\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_n = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=n}^{n+k} \Phi_i.$$

*Proof.* By Theorem 15.4, we obtain

$$\Gamma_{\Phi_n} = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \left(\Phi_n\right)_i = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \Phi_{n+i} = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=n}^{n+k} \Phi_j.$$

Moreover, by Theorems 15.4, 16.3 and 16.6, we also have

$$\Gamma_{\Phi_n} = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \Phi_{n+i} = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=0}^{k} (\Phi_i)_n = \left(\bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \Phi_i\right)_n = (\Gamma_{\Phi})_n.$$

Now, as an immediate consequence of Theorems 18.7 and 18.8, we can also state:

**Theorem 18.9.** If F is a  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then for any  $n \in \{0\} \cup \mathbb{N}$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$F_{n+k} \subset F_n + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_n}.$$

*Proof.* Namely, by Theorems 18.7 and 18.8, we have

$$F_{n+k} \subset F_n + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=n}^{n+k-1} \Phi_i \subset F_n + \frac{1}{2} \bigcup_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=n}^{n+l-1} \Phi_i = F_n + \frac{1}{2} \bigcup_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=n}^{n+j} \Phi_i = F_n + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi_n}.$$

The n = 0 particular case of the above theorem immediately yields:

**Corollary 18.10.** If F is a  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a vector space X, then for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$F_k \subset F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}.$$

## 19. REGULAR AND NORMAL RELATIONS

Analogous to Definition 3.1 of [88], we introduce the following.

**Definition 19.1.** A relation F on a groupoid U to a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  will be called:

- (1) convergence (adherence) null-regular if the sequence  $(F_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is convergence (adherence) null for all  $u \in U$ ;
- (2) convergence (adherence) regular if the sequence  $(F_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is convergent (adherent) for all  $u \in U$ ;
- (3) convergence (adherence) quasi-regular if the sequence  $(F_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is convergence (adherence) Cauchy for all  $u \in U$ ;
- (4) semi-regular if the sequence  $(F_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is infinitesimal for all  $u \in U$ .

**Remark 19.1.** By the corresponding definitions and Theorem 8.6, it is clear that any one of the above properties implies the subsequent one.

Now, in addition to Definition 19.1, we introduce the following.

**Definition 19.2.** A relation  $\Phi$  on a groupoid U to a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  will be called:

- (1) convergence (adherence) null-normal if the relation  $\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is convergence (adherence) null-regular;
- (2) convergence (adherence) normal if the relation  $\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is convergence (adherence) regular;
- (3) convergence (adherence) quasi-normal if the relation  $\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is convergence (adherence) quasi-regular;
- (4) semi-normal if the relation  $\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is semi-regular.

**Remark 19.2.** By Remark 19.1, any one of the above properties implies the subsequent one.

Moreover, we can easily prove:

**Theorem 19.1.** If  $\Phi$  is a relation of a semigroup U to a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then the following assertions are equivalent:

(1)  $\Phi$  is convergence null-normal;

(2) for each  $u \in U$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for any  $k, l \in \mathbb{N}$ , with  $n \leq k \leq l$ , we have

$$\sum_{i=k}^{l} \Phi_i(u) \subset R(0).$$

*Proof.* If (1) holds and  $u \in U$ , then by the corresponding definitions and Theorem 18.8 we have

. .

$$0 \in \lim_{n \to \infty} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi} \right)_{n}(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left( \bigcup_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=n}^{n+j} \Phi_{i} \right)(u)$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \bigcup_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=n}^{n+j} \Phi_{i}(u).$$

Therefore, for each  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ , there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , with  $k \ge n$ , we have

$$\bigcup_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=k}^{k+j} \Phi_i(u) \subset R(0).$$

Hence, for any  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $l \ge k$ , we have  $\sum_{i=k}^{l} \Phi_i(u) \subset R(0)$ . Thus, (2) also holds. The converse implication (2)  $\Longrightarrow$  (1) can be similarly proved.

Now, as an immediate consequence of the above theorem, we can also state:

**Corollary 19.2.** If  $\Phi$  is a convergence null-normal relation of a semigroup U to a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then  $\Phi$  is convergence null-regular.

*Proof.* If  $u \in U$  and  $R \in \mathcal{R}$ , then by Theorem 19.1 there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$\Phi_k(u) = \sum_{i=k}^k \Phi_i(u) \subset R(0)$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \ge n$ . Therefore,  $0 \in \lim_{n \to \infty} \Phi_n(u)$ . Thus, the assertion is also true.

Using a particular case of Definition 3.9 of [88], we can also state the following:

**Example 19.1.** If  $\varphi$  is a null-normal, non-negative function of a semigroup U in the sense that

$$S_{\varphi}(u) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \varphi_i(u) < +\infty$$

for all  $u \in U$ , then the relation  $\Phi_{\varphi}$  considered in Example 17.4 is convergence null-normal. Moreover, we have

$$\Gamma_{\Phi_{\varphi}} \subset \Phi_{S_{\varphi}}.$$

Namely, if  $u \in U$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ , then there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$\sum_{i=k}^{\iota}\varphi_i(u) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$

for all  $k, l \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $n \leq k \leq l$ . Therefore, by Remark 17.3, we also have

1

$$\sum_{i=k}^{l} \left( \Phi_{\varphi} \right)_{i}(u) = \sum_{i=k}^{l} \bar{B}_{\varphi_{i}(u)}(0) \subset \bar{B}_{\sum_{i=k}^{l} \varphi_{i}(u)}(0) \subset \bar{B}_{\varepsilon/2}(0) \subset B_{\varepsilon}(0)$$

for all  $k, l \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $n \leq k \leq l$ . Hence, by Theorem 19.1, the relation  $\Phi_{\varphi}$  is convergence null-normal. Similarly, we can see that

$$\Gamma_{\Phi_{\varphi}}(u) = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{i=0}^{k} \left( \Phi_{\varphi} \right)_{i}(u) \subset \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \bar{B}_{\sum_{i=0}^{k} \varphi_{i}(u)}(0) \subset \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \bar{B}_{S_{\varphi}(u)}(0) = \bar{B}_{S_{\varphi}(u)}(0) = \Phi_{S_{\varphi}}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, the inclusion  $\Gamma_{\Phi_{\omega}} \subset \Phi_{S_{\omega}}$  is also true.

### 20. AN APPROXIMATE SELECTION THEOREM

By using Theorems 14.8 and 14.9, we can easily establish the following.

**Theorem 20.1.** If F and  $\Phi$  are relations on a groupoid U to a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  such that at least one of the following conditions holds:

(1) F is convergence (adherence) quasi-regular and  $\Phi$  is convergence quasi-normal;

(2) *F* is convergence quasi-regular and  $\Phi$  is convergence (adherence) quasi-normal;

then the relation  $F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is convergence (adherence) quasi-regular.

*Proof.* If  $u \in U$  and (1) holds, then by Definition 19.1 the sequence  $(F_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is convergence (adherence) Cauchy. Moreover, by Definitions 19.2 and 19.1, the sequence  $((\Gamma_{\Phi})_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is convergence Cauchy. Furthermore, by Theorem 16.3, we have

$$\left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_{n}(u) = F_{n}(u) + \frac{1}{2}\left(\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_{n}(u)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence, by Theorems 14.8 and 14.9, the sequence  $\left(\left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_{n}(u)\right)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is also convergence (adherence) Cauchy. Therefore, by Definition 19.1, the relation  $F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is convergence (adherence) quasi-regular.

Since "quasi-regular convergence (adherence)" implies "semi-infinitesimal", by using Theorem 18.9, we can also prove the following.

**Theorem 20.2.** If F is a  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  such that the relation  $F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is semi-regular, then F is convergence quasi-regular.

*Proof.* If  $u \in U$ , then by Definition 19.1 the sequence  $\left(\left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_{n}(u)\right)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is infinitesimal. Thus, by Definition 8.1, for each  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exist  $x \in X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$\left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_n (u) \subset R(x).$$

Now, if  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that m > n, then by Theorems 18.9, 18.8 and 16.3,

$$F_m(u) \subset \left(F_n + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_n}\right)(u) = \left(F_n + \frac{1}{2}\left(\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_n\right)(u)$$
$$= \left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_n(u) \subset R(x).$$

Therefore, by Definitions 8.3 and 8.2, the sequence  $(f_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is convergence Cauchy. Thus, by Definition 19.1, the function f is convergence quasi-regular.

By the above theorem, we have:

**Corollary 20.3.** If *F* is as in the above theorem and  $f_{(n)}$  is a selection of  $F_n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $(f_{(n)}(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a convergence Cauchy sequence in  $X(\mathcal{R})$  for all  $u \in U$ .

Now, analogous to Theorem 5.5 of [88], we can prove the following.

**Theorem 20.4.** If F is a  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous relation of a semigroup U to a separated, sequentially convergence point-complete vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  such that the relation  $F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is semi-regular, then there exists a unique 2-homogeneous function f of U to X such that

$$f(u) \in \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

*Proof.* By Theorem 15.6, for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a selection  $f_{(n)}$  of  $F_n$  such that

$$f_{(n)}(2u) = 2f_{(n+1)}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Moreover, by Corollary 20.3,  $(f_{(n)}(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a convergence Cauchy sequence in  $X(\mathcal{R})$  for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, by Definitions 8.4 and 8.3,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} f_{(n)}(u) \neq \emptyset$ for all  $u \in U$ . Thus, by the axiom of choice, there exists a function f of U to X such that  $f(u) \in \lim_{n \to \infty} f_{(n)}(u)$  for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, by Theorem 13.7 and Corollary 12.7, we necessarily have  $\{f(u)\} = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_{(n)}(u)$  for all  $u \in U$ . Hence, by identifying singletons with their elements, we may also write

$$f(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_{(n)}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Now, by Theorem 14.1 and Definition 8.2, it is clear that

$$f(2u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_{(n)}(2u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} 2f_{(n+1)}(u) = 2\lim_{n \to \infty} f_{(n+1)}(u) = 2f(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, f is 2-homogeneous. Moreover, by Corollary 18.10, we have

$$f_{(n)}(u) \in F_n(u) \subset \left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)(u) = F(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence, by Remark 8.3 and Corollary 8.5,

$$f(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_{(n)}(u) \in \operatorname{adh}_{n \to \infty} f_{(n)}(u) \subset \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( F(u) + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi}(u) \right)$$

also holds for all  $u \in U$ .

The unicity of the above function f is immediate by:

**Theorem 20.5.** If F and  $\Phi$  are relations of a semigroup U to a separated vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  such that the relation  $F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is semi-regular, and f is a 2-homogeneous function of U to X such that

$$f(u) \in \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ , then we necessarily have

$$\{f(u)\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F_n(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_n}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

*Proof.* Now, we have

$$f(u) \in \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}(u)\right) = \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)(u)\right) = \left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)^{-}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Hence, by using Corollary 17.3 and Theorem 16.5, we can infer that

$$f(u) \in \left(\left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)^{-}\right)_{n}(u) = \left(\left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_{n}\right)^{-}(u) = \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_{n}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , Therefore, f is a selection of the relation G defined by

$$G(u) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \left( F + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi} \right)_n (u) \right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, we note that if  $u \in U$ , then by Definition 19.1 the sequence  $\left(\left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_{n}(u)\right)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is infinitesimal. Hence, by Theorems 13.1 and 11.6, the sequence  $\left(\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\left(F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_{n}(u)\right)\right)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is also infinitesimal. Thus, by Remark 8.1, G(u) is an infinitesimal subset of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ . Hence, by Theorems 13.1, 13.7 and 12.8, G(u) is at most a singleton. Therefore, we necessarily have  $G(u) = \{f(u)\}$ . Moreover, by using Theorems 16.3 and 18.8, we can see that

$$G(u) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \left( F + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi} \right)_n(u) \right) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( F_n(u) + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi_n}(u) \right)$$

also holds for all  $u \in U$ .

**Remark 20.1.** Note that if f is a function and  $\Phi$  is a relation of a groupoid U to a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then by Theorem 13.4 we have

$$\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(f_{n}(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{n}}(u)\right) = f_{n}(u) + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\Gamma_{\Phi_{n}}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$  and  $n \in \{0\} \cup \mathbb{N}$ .

## 21. FURTHER SIMPLIFICATIONS IN THE FUNCTIONAL CASE

By using our former results, in addition to Remark 20.1, we have the following.

**Theorem 21.1.** If f is a  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous function of a semigroup U to a relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  and the relation  $\Phi$  is semi-normal, then the function f is convergence quasi-regular.

*Proof.* If  $u \in U$ , then by Definitions 19.2 and 19.1 the sequence  $(\Gamma_{\Phi})_n(u)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is infinitesimal. Hence, by Theorem 14.6, the sequence  $(\frac{1}{2}(\Gamma_{\Phi})_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is also infinitesimal. Thus, by Definition 8.1, for each  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exist  $x \in X$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$\frac{1}{2} \big( \Gamma_{\Phi} \big)_n(u) \subset R(x).$$

Now, if  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that m > n, then by Theorem 18.9 and 18.8,

$$f_m(u) \in \left(f_n + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_n}\right)(u) = f_n(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_n}(u)$$
$$= f_n(u) + \frac{1}{2}\left(\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_n(u) \subset f_n(u) + R(x)$$
$$= R\left(f_n(u) + x\right).$$

Therefore, by Definitions 8.2 and 8.3, the sequence  $(f_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is convergence Cauchy. Thus, by Definition 19.1, the function f is convergence quasi-regular.

Hence, by Theorem 20.1, we also have:

**Corollary 21.2.** If f is as in Theorem 21.1 and the relation  $\Phi$  is adherence quasi-normal, then the relation  $f + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is adherence quasi-regular.

Now, by using the results of Section 20, we can establish the following.

 $\sim$ 

**Theorem 21.3.** If f is a  $\Phi$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous function of a semigroup U to a separated, sequentially convergence point-complete vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  and the relation  $\Phi$  is adherence quasi-normal, then there exists a 2-homogeneous function g of U to X such that

$$g(u) \in f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi}(u) \right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, we have

$$\left\{g(u)\right\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(f_n(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\Gamma_{\Phi_n}(u)\right)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

*Proof.* Now, by Corollary 21.2 and Remark 19.1, the relation  $f + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}$  is semi-regular. Thus, by Theorem 20.4, there exists a unique 2-homogeneous function g of U to X such that

$$g(u) \in \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(f(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, by Theorem 20.5, we have

$$\left\{g(u)\right\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(f_n(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_n}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Hence, by Remark 20.1, the required assertions are also true.

In addition to the latter theorem, we prove the following.

**Theorem 21.4.** If f is a function and  $\Phi$  is a relation of a semigroup U to a separated vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  such that  $\Phi$  is convergence null-normal, and g is a 2-homogeneous function of U to X such that

$$g(u) \in f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi}(u) \right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ , then we necessarily have

$$g(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

*Proof.* For any  $u \in U$ , we have

$$g(u) \in f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi}(u) \right) = f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi} \right)^{-}(u) = \left( f + \frac{1}{2} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi} \right)^{-} \right)(u).$$

By using Corollary 17.3 and Theorems 16.3 and 16.5, we can infer that

$$g(u) \in \left(f + \frac{1}{2}(\Gamma_{\Phi})^{-}\right)_{n}(u) = \left(f_{n} + \frac{1}{2}((\Gamma_{\Phi})^{-})_{n}\right)(u)$$
$$= \left(f_{n} + \frac{1}{2}((\Gamma_{\Phi})_{n})^{-}\right)(u)$$
$$= f_{n}(u) + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left((\Gamma_{\Phi})_{n}(u)\right)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Moreover, by Definitions 19.2 and 19.1, we have

$$0 \in \lim_{n \to \infty} _{\mathcal{R}} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi} \right)_n(u)$$

Hence, by using Theorems 13.1, 11.5 and 14.1, we can infer that

$$0 \in \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \left( \Gamma_{\Phi} \right)_n(u) \right).$$

Thus, by Definition 8.2, for any  $R \in \mathcal{R}$  there exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \left( \Gamma_{\Phi} \right)_k(u) \right) \subset R(0)$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \ge n$ . Hence,

$$g(u) \in f_k(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\left(\Gamma_{\Phi}\right)_k(u)\right) \subset f_k(u) + R(0) = R\left(f_k(u)\right),$$

and thus

$$f_k(u) \in R^{-1}(g(u)) = R(g(u))$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $k \ge n$ . Therefore,

$$g(u) \in \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(u)$$

also holds. By Theorem 13.7 and Corollary 12.7, it is clear that the corresponding equality is also true. ■

Now, to illustrate the above results, we prove the following counterpart of a straightforward extension of Găvruță's theorem.

**Example 21.1.** If f is a  $\varphi$ -approximately 2-homogeneous function of a semigroup U to a Banach space X and  $\varphi$  is null-normal, then there exists a 2-homogeneous function g of U to X such that

$$\|f(u) - g(u)\| \le \frac{1}{2}S_{\varphi}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, we have

$$g(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

To derive this, note that by Example 17.4, f is  $\Phi_{\varphi}$ -approximately 2-homogeneous. Moreover, by Example 19.1,  $\Phi_{\varphi}$  is convergence null-normal. Therefore, by Theorem 21.3, there exists a 2-homogeneous function g of U to X such that

$$g(u) \in f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi_{\varphi}}(u) \right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . By Theorem 21.4, we also have  $g(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(u)$  for all  $u \in U$  and Example 19.1 shows that

$$\Gamma_{\Phi_{\varphi}}(u) \subset \Phi_{S_{\varphi}}(u) = \bar{B}_{S_{\varphi}(u)}(0)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Hence,

$$g(u) \in f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \bar{B}_{S_{\varphi}(u)}(0) \right) = f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \bar{B}_{S_{\varphi}(u)}(0) = f(u) + \bar{B}_{\frac{1}{2}S_{\varphi}(u)}(0),$$

for all  $u \in U$  and thus

$$\|f(u) - g(u)\| \le \frac{1}{2}S_{\varphi}(u)$$

holds for all  $u \in U$ .

# 22. APPROXIMATELY SUBADDITIVE RELATIONS

**Definition 22.1.** A relation F on one groupoid U to another V is called  $\Psi$ -approximately subadditive, for some relation  $\Psi$  of  $U^2$  to V, if

$$F(u+v) \subset \left(F(u) + F(v)\right) + \Psi(u,v)$$

for all  $u, v \in U$ .

The following example shows that this definition is a generalization of Definition 6.1 of [88].

**Example 22.1.** If f is a function of a groupoid U to a normed space X,  $\psi$  is a non-negative function of  $U^2$  and  $\Psi_{\psi}$  is a relation of  $U^2$  to X such that

$$\Psi_{\psi}(u,v) = B_{\psi(u,v)}(0)$$

for all  $u, v \in U$ , then the following assertions are equivalent:

(1) f is  $\psi$ -approximately additive;

(2) f is  $\Psi_{\psi}$ - approximately subadditive.

By the corresponding definition, (1) simply means that

$$\left\|f(u+v) - \left(f(u) + f(v)\right)\right\| \le \psi(u,v)$$

for all  $u, v \in U$ . This is equivalent to the requirement that

$$f(u+v) - (f(u) + f(v)) \in \bar{B}_{\psi(u,v)}(0),$$

or

$$f(u+v) \in f(u) + f(v) + \bar{B}_{\psi(u,v)}(0) = f(u) + f(v) + \Psi_{\psi}(u,v)$$

for all  $u, v \in U$ . That is, (2) holds.

We now establish the following result concerning approximately subadditive functions.

**Theorem 22.1.** If F is a  $\Psi$ -approximately subadditive relation of a commutative semigroup U to a vector space X, then  $F_n$  is  $\Psi_n$ -approximately subadditive for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

*Proof.* By the corresponding definitions and Theorem 3.2, we have

$$F_{n}(u+v) = \frac{1}{2^{n}}F(2^{n}(u+v))$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2^{n}}F(2^{n}u+2^{n}v)$   
 $\subset \frac{1}{2^{n}}(F(2^{n}u)+F(2^{n}v)+\Psi(2^{n}u, 2^{n}v))$   
=  $\frac{1}{2^{n}}F(2^{n}u) + \frac{1}{2^{n}}F(2^{n}v) + \frac{1}{2^{n}}\Psi(2^{n}(u,v))$   
=  $F_{n}(u) + F_{n}(v) + \Psi_{n}(u,v)$ 

for all  $u, v \in U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Therefore, the required assertion is true.

**Definition 22.2.** If U and V are sets and  $\Psi$  is a relation on  $U^2$  to V, then we define

$$\Phi_{\Psi}(u) = \Psi(u, u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

Simple applications of the corresponding definitions immediately yield the following theorems.

**Theorem 22.2.** If U is a groupoid and  $\Psi$  is a relation of  $U^2$  to a vector space X, then for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\Phi_{\Psi_n} = \left(\Phi_{\Psi}\right)_n.$$

*Proof.* We evidently have

$$\Phi_{\Psi_n}(u) = \Psi_n(u, u) = \frac{1}{2^n} \Psi \left( 2^n u, 2^n u \right) = \frac{1}{2^n} \Phi_{\Psi} \left( 2^n u \right) = \left( \Phi_{\Psi} \right)_n(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, the required equality is true.

**Theorem 22.3.** If F is a midconvex-valued,  $\Psi$ -approximately subadditive relation of a groupoid U to a vector space X, then F is  $\Phi_{\Psi}$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous.

*Proof.* Namely, we have

$$F(2u) = F(u+u) \subset F(u) + F(u) + \Psi(u,u)$$
  
=  $2\left(\frac{1}{2}F(u) + \frac{1}{2}F(u)\right) + \Phi_{\Psi}(u) \subset 2F(u) + \Phi_{\Psi}(u)$ 

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, by Definition 17.3, the required assertion is true.

Now, analogous to Theorem 6.8 of [88], we can also prove the following:

**Theorem 22.4.** If F is a midconvex-valued,  $\Psi$ -approximately subadditive relation of a commutative semigroup U to a separated, sequentially convergence point-complete vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  such that F is adherence quasi-regular,  $\Psi$  is convergence null-regular and  $\Phi_{\Psi}$  is convergence null-normal, then there exists an additive function f of U to X such that

$$f(u) \in \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi}}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, we have

$$\left\{f(u)\right\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F_n(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

*Proof.* Now, by Theorem 22.3, F is  $\Phi_{\Psi}$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous, and by Theorem 20.1, the relation  $F + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi}}$  is adherence quasi-regular and hence it is semi-regular. Therefore, by Theorem 20.2, the relation F is actually convergence quasi-regular. Moreover, by Theorem 20.4, there exists a unique 2-homogeneous function f of U to X such that

$$f(u) \in \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi}}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . By Theorems 20.5 and 22.2, we have

$$\left\{f(u)\right\} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F_n(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{(\Phi_{\Psi})_n}(u)\right) = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F_n(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore, we need only show that f is additive. For this, note that if  $u, v \in U$ , then by the above equality and Theorem 22.1 we have

$$f(u+v) \in \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F_n(u+v) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u+v)\right)$$
$$\subset \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(F_n(u) + F_n(v) + \Psi_n(u,v) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u+v)\right)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . By using Theorem 13.4, we can also see that

$$f(u) + f(v) \in \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( F_n(u) + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u) \right) + \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( F_n(v) + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(v) \right)$$
$$\subset \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( F_n(u) + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u) + F_n(v) + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(v) \right)$$
$$= \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( F_n(u) + F_n(v) + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u) + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(v) \right)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence, by defining

$$A_n = F_n(u) + F_n(v),$$

$$B_n = \Psi_n(u, v) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u + v) \quad \text{and} \quad C_n = \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(v)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we note that

$$\{f(u+v), f(u)+f(v)\} \subset \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\left(A_n+B_n\right)\cup\left(A_n+C_n\right)\right).$$

Now, to complete the proof, we need only note the following facts. Since the relation F is convergence quasi-regular,  $(F_n(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $(F_n(v))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  are convergence Cauchy sequences in  $X(\mathcal{R})$ . Thus, by Theorem 14.11,  $(A_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is also a convergence Cauchy sequence in  $X(\mathcal{R})$ . Since  $\Psi$  is convergence null-regular,  $(\Psi_n(u,v))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a convergence null-sequence in  $X(\mathcal{R})$ . As  $\Phi_{\Psi}$  is convergence null-normal and

$$\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}} = \Gamma_{(\Phi_{\Psi})_n} = \left(\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi}}\right)_n$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we also note that  $(\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ ,  $(\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(v))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $(\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_n}}(u+v))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  are convergence null sequences in  $X(\mathcal{R})$ . Thus, by Corollaries 14.2 and 14.5,  $(B_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $(C_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  are also convergence null-sequences in  $X(\mathcal{R})$ .

Hence, by Theorem 14.12, we can see that  $((A_n + B_n) \cup (A_n + C_n))_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a convergence Cauchy sequence in  $X(\mathcal{R})$ . Thus, it is infinitesimal and by Theorems 13.1 and 11.6,

$$\left(\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\left(A_{n}+B_{n}\right)\cup\left(A_{n}+C_{n}\right)\right)\right)_{n=1}^{\infty}$$

is also an infinitesimal sequence in  $X(\mathcal{R})$ . Now, by Remark 8.1, it is clear that  $\{f(u + v), f(u) + f(v)\}$  is an infinitesimal subset of  $X(\mathcal{R})$ . Therefore, by Theorems 13.1, 13.7 and 12.8, it is at most a singleton. Hence, f(u + v) = f(u) + f(v) also holds.

**Remark 22.1.** Note that if f is a function of a groupoid U to a vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$  and  $\Psi$  is a relation of  $U^2$  to  $X(\mathcal{R})$ , then by Theorem 13.4 we have

$$\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(f_{n}(u) + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_{n}}}(u)\right) = f_{n}(u) + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}}\left(\Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_{n}}}(u)\right)$$

for all  $u \in U$  and  $n \in \{0\} \cup \mathbb{N}$ .

### 23. FURTHER SIMPLIFICATIONS IN THE FUNCTIONAL CASE

By using our former results, in addition to Remark 22.1, we can prove the following.

**Theorem 23.1.** If f is a  $\Psi$ -approximately subadditive function of a commutative semigroup U to a separated, sequentially convergence point-complete vector relator space  $X(\mathcal{R})$ ,  $\Psi$  is convergence null-regular and  $\Phi_{\Psi}$  is convergence null-normal, then there exists an additive function g of U to X such that

$$g(u) \in f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi}}(u) \right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, we have

$$g(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

*Proof.* Now, f is a convex valued relation. Thus, by Theorem 22.3, f is  $\Phi_{\Psi}$ -approximately 2-subhomogeneous, and  $\Phi_{\Psi}$  is semi-normal. By Theorem 21.1, the function f is convergence quasi-regular and hence it is adherence quasi-regular. Thus, by Theorem 22.4 and Remark 22.1, there exists a unique additive function g of U to X such that

$$g(u) \in f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}_{\mathcal{R}} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi}}(u) \right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Hence, by Example 17.1 and Theorem 21.4, it is clear that

$$g(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(u)$$

also holds for all  $u \in U$ .

Now, to illustrate the above results, we prove the following straightforward extension of Găvruță's theorem.

**Example 23.1.** If f is a  $\psi$ -approximately additive function of a commutative semigroup U to a Banach space X, the function  $\psi$  is null-regular and the function  $\varphi_{\psi}$ , defined by

$$\varphi_{\psi}(u) = \psi(u, u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ , is null-normal, then there exists an additive function g of U to X such that

$$\|f(u) - g(u)\| \le \frac{1}{2}S_{\varphi}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, we have

$$g(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ .

To derive this, note that by Example 22.1, the function f is  $\Psi_{\psi}$ -approximately subadditive. Moreover, by Remark 17.3,

$$\left(\Psi_{\psi}\right)_{n}(u,v) = \bar{B}_{\psi_{n}(u,v)}(0)$$

for all  $u, v \in U$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence, since  $\psi$  is now null-regular in the sense that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\psi_{_n}(u,v)=0$$

for all  $u, v \in U$ , it is clear that

$$0 \in \lim_{n \to \infty} \left( \Psi_{\psi} \right)_n(u, v)$$

$$\Phi_{\Psi_{\psi}}(u) = \Psi_{\psi}(u, u) = \bar{B}_{\psi(u, u)}(0) = \bar{B}_{\varphi_{\psi}(u)}(0) = \Phi_{\varphi_{\psi}}(u)$$

for all  $u \in U$ , and thus  $\Phi_{\Psi_{\psi}} = \Phi_{\varphi_{\psi}}$ . Hence, by Example 19.1, it is clear that the relation  $\Phi_{\Psi_{\psi}}$  is convergence null-normal. By Theorem 23.1, there exists an additive function g of U to X such that

$$g(u) \in f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl} \left( \Gamma_{\Phi_{\Psi_{\psi}}}(u) \right)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Moreover, we have  $g(u) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(u)$  for all  $u \in U$ . Example 19.1 also shows that

$$\Gamma_{\Phi_{\varphi_{\psi}}}(u) \subset \Phi_{S_{\varphi_{\psi}}}(u) = \bar{B}_{S_{\varphi_{\psi}}}(u)(0)$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Hence,

$$g(u) \in f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{cl}(\bar{B}_{S_{\varphi_{\psi}}(u)}(0)) = f(u) + \frac{1}{2} \bar{B}_{S_{\varphi_{\psi}}(u)}(0) = f(u) + \bar{B}_{\frac{1}{2}S_{\varphi_{\psi}}(u)}(0),$$

for all  $u \in U$ . Therefore,

$$||f(u) - g(u)|| \le \frac{1}{2} S_{\varphi_{\psi}}(u)$$

holds for all  $u \in U$ .

Acknowledgement. The author is indebted to Professor Th. M. Rassias for his valuable suggestions leading to correction, completion and updating of the Introduction and References.

#### REFERENCES

- M. ALBERT and J. A. BAKER, Bounded solution of a functional inequality, *Canad. Math. Bull.*, 25 (1982), 491–495.
- [2] T. AOKI, On the stability of the linear transformation in Banach spaces, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 2 (1950), 64–66.
- [3] C. BADEA, On the Hyers–Ulam stability of mappings: the direct method, In: Th. M. Rassias and J. Tabor (Eds.), *Stability of mappings of Hyers–Ulam type*, Hadronic Press Collect. Orig. Art., Palm Harbor, FL, 1994, 7–13.
- [4] C. BADEA, The general linear equation is stable, *Nonlinear Funct. Anal. Appl.*, 10 (2005), 155–164.
- [5] R. BADORA, On some generalized invariant means and their application to the stability of the Hyers–Ulam type, Ann. Polon. Math., 58 (1993), 147–159.
- [6] R. BADORA, On approximately additive functions, Ann. Math. Sil., 8 (1994), 111–126.
- [7] R. BADORA, Note on the superstability of the Cauchy functional equation, *Publ. Math. Debrecen*, 57 (2000), 421–424.
- [8] R. BADORA, On the Hahn-Banach theorem for groups, Arch. Math., 86 (2006), 517–528.
- [9] R. BADORA, R. GER and Zs. PÁLES, Additive selections and the stability of the Cauchy functional equation, *ANZIAM J.*, **44** (2003), 323–337.
- [10] R. BADORA, Zs. PÁLES and L. SZÉKELYHIDI, Monomial selections of set-valued maps, Aequationes Math., 58 (1999), 214–222.
- [11] A. BAHYRYCZ, Forti's example of an unstable homomorphism equation, *Aequationes Math.*, 74 (2007), 310–313.

- [12] J. A. BAKER, The stability of certain functional equations, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **112** (1991), 729–732.
- [13] J. A. BAKER, On some mathematical characters, *Glasnik Mat.*, 25 (1990), 319–328.
- [14] J. A. BAKER, J. LAWRENCE and F. ZORZITTO, The stability of the equation f(x + y) = f(x)f(y), *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **74** (1979), 242–246.
- [15] K. BARON, Functions with differences in subspaces, Proceedings of the 18th International Symposium on Functional Equations, Faculty of Mathematics, University of Waterloo, 1980, 8–9.
- [16] K. BARON, A remark on the stability of the Cauchy equation, *Rocznik Nauk.-Dydakt. Prace Mat.*, 11 (1985), 7–12.
- [17] K. BARON and Pl. KANNAPPAN, On the Pexider difference, Fund. Math., 134 (1990), 247-254.
- [18] K. BARON and Pl. KANNAPPAN, On the Cauchy difference, Aequationes Math., 46 (1993), 112– 118.
- [19] K. BARON, M. SABLIK and P. VOLKMANN, On decent solutions of a functional congruence, *Rocznik Nauk.-Dydakt. Prace Mat.*, 17 (2000), 27–40.
- [20] K. BARON, A. SIMON and P. VOLKMANN, On functions having Cauchy differences in some prescribed sets, *Aequationes Math.*, 52 (1996), 254–259.
- [21] K. BARON and P. VOLKMANN, On the Cauchy equation modulo  $\mathbb{Z}$ , *Fund. Math.*, **131** (1988), 141–148.
- [22] K. BARON and P. VOLKMANN, On a theorem of van der Corput, Abh. Math. Semin. Univ. Hamburg, 61 (1991), 189–195.
- [23] K. BARON and P. VOLKMANN, On functions close to homomorphisms between square symmetric structures, *Seminar LV*, **14** (2002), 1–12. (http://www.mathematik.uni-karlsruhe.de/~semlv)
- [24] B. BELAID, E. ELHOUCIEN and Th. M. RASSIAS, On Hyers-Ulam stability of approximately Pexider mappings, *Math. Inequal. Appl.*, **11** (2008), 805–818.
- [25] C. BORELLI, On Hyers-Ulam stability for a class of functional equations, *Aequationes Math.*, 54 (1997), 74–86.
- [26] C. BORELLI and G. L. FORTI, On a general Hyers-Ulam stability result, Int. J. Math. Sci., 18 (1995), 229–236.
- [27] Z. BOROS, Stability of the Cauchy equation in ordered fields, Math. Pannon., 11 (2000), 191–197.
- [28] Z. BOROS, Stability of the multiplicative Cauchy equation in ordered fields, In: Z.Daróczy and Zs. Páles (eds.), *Functional Equations - Results and Advances*, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Netherlands, 2002, 91–98.
- [29] Z. BOROS and Z. KAISER, Note on approximate ring homomorphisms in algebras over fields with valuations, *Annales Univ. Si. Budapest., Sect. Comp.*, **24** (2004), 119–124.
- [30] D. G. BOURGIN, Classes of transformations and bordering transformations, *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **57** (1951), 223–237.
- [31] D. G. BOURGIN, Review of Aoki's paper, Math. Reviews, 12 (1951), 717.
- [32] J. BRZDĘK, On the Cauchy difference, *Glasnik Mat.*, 27 (1992), 263–269.
- [33] J. BRZDĘK and A. GRABIEC, Remarks to the Cauchy difference, In: Th. M. Rassias and Jo. Tabor (Eds.), *Stability of mappings of Hyers–Ulam type*, Hadronic Press Collect. Orig. Art., Palm Harbor, FL, 1994, 23–30.

- [34] J. BRZDĘK and J. TABOR, Stability of the Cauchy congruence on restricted domain, Arch. Math., 82 (2004), 546–550.
- [35] P. BURAI and Á. SZÁZ, Relationships between homogeneity, subadditivity and convexity properties, *Univ. Beograd, Publ. Elektrotehn. Fak, Ser. Mat.*, **16** (2005), 77–87.
- [36] L. CADARIU, A general theory of stability for the Cauchy's equation, *Bull. Stiint. Univ. Politeh. Timis., Ser. Mat. Fiz.*, **47** (2002), 14–28.
- [37] L. CÅDARIU and V. RADU, On the stability of the Cauchy functional equation: a fixed point approach, *Grazer Math. Ber.*, **346** (2004), 43–52.
- [38] L. CÅDARIU and V. RADU, The fixed points method for the stability of some functional equations, *Carpathian J. Math.*, **23** (2007), 43–52.
- [39] L. CÅDARIU and V. RADU, Remarks on the stability of monomial functional equations, *Fixed Point Theory Appl.*, **8** (2007), 201–218.
- [40] L. CĂDARIU and V. RADU, Fixed point method for the generalized stability of functional equations in single variable, *Fixed Point Theory Appl.*, 2008, Art. ID 749392, 15 pp.
- [41] L. CÅDARIU, M.S. MOSLEHIAN and V. RADU, An application of Banach's fixed point theorem to the stability of a general functional equation, preprint.
- [42] R. CROSS, Multivalued Linear Operators, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1998.
- [43] S. CZERWIK, On the stability of the homogeneous mapping, *C. R. Math. Rep. Acad. Sci. Canada*, **14** (1992), 268–272.
- [44] S. CZERWIK, Functional Equations and Inequalities in Several Variables, World Scientific, London, 2002.
- [45] S. CZERWIK, *Stability of Functional Equations of Ulam-Hyers-Rassias Type*, Hadronic Press, Palm Harbor, Florida, 2003.
- [46] S. CZERWIK, Some results on the stability of the homogeneous functions, *Bull. Korean Math. Soc.*, **42** (2005), 29–37.
- [47] B. A. DAVEY and H. A. PRIESTLEY, *Introduction to Lattices and Order*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [48] A. S. DAVIS, Indexed systems of neighborhoods for general topological spaces, Amer. Math. Monthly, 68 (1961), 886–893.
- [49] V. A. Faľ ZIEV, Th. M. RASSIAS and P. K. SAHOO, The space of  $(\psi, \gamma)$ -additive mappings on semigroups, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **354** (2002), 4455–4472.
- [50] P. FLETCHER and W. F. LINDGREN, Quasi-Uniform Spaces, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1982.
- [51] G. L. FORTI, An existence and stability theorem for a class of functional equations, *Stochastica*, 4 (1980), 23–30.
- [52] G. L. FORTI, Remark 11, Aequationes Math., 29 (1985), 90-91.
- [53] G. L. FORTI, The stability of homomorphisms and amenability, with applications to functional equations *Abh. Math. Sem. Uiv. Hamburg*, **57** (1987), 215–226.
- [54] G. L. FORTI, Hyers–Ulam stability of functional equations in several variables, *Aequationes Math.*, 50 (1995), 143–190.
- [55] G. L. FORTI, Comments on the core of the direct method for proving Hyers–Ulam stability of functional equations, *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, **295** (2004), 127–133.

- [56] G. L. FORTI and J. SCHWAIGER, Stability of homomorphisms and completeness, *C. R. Math. Rep. Acad. Sci. Canada*, **11** (1989), 215–220.
- [57] Z. GAJDA, On stability of the Cauchy equation on semigroups, Aequationes Math., 36 (1988), 76–79.
- [58] Z. GAJDA, On stability of additive mappings, Internat J. Math. Sci., 14 (1991), 431-434.
- [59] Z. GAJDA, Invariant means and representations of semigroups in the theory of functional equations, *Prace Nauk. Uniw. Ślask. Katowic.*, **1273** (1992), 1–81.
- [60] Z. GAJDA, Sandwich theorems and amenable semigroups of transformations, *Grazer Math. Ber.*, **316** (1992), 43–58.
- [61] Z. GAJDA and R. GER, Subadditive multifunctions and Hyers–Ulam stability, In: W. Walter (Ed.), *General Inequalities 5, Internat. Ser. Numer. Math. (Birkhäuser, Basel)*, **80**, (1987), 281–291.
- [62] Z. GAJDA and Z. KOMINEK, On separation theorems for subadditive and superadditive functionals, *Studia Math.*, **100** (1991), 25–38.
- [63] Z. GAJDA, A. SMAJDOR and W. SMAJDOR, A theorem of the Hahn–Banach type and its applications, Ann. Polon. Math., 57 (1992), 243–252.
- [64] B. GANTER and R. WILLE, Formal Concept Analysis, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999.
- [65] P. GÅVRUŢÅ, A generalization of the Hyers–Ulam–Rassias stability of approximately additive mappings, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 184 (1994), 431–436.
- [66] P. GĂVRUŢĂ, On the Hyers–Ulam–Rassias asymptotic stability of mappings, *Bull. St. Univ. Politehnica Timisoara*, **41** (1996), 48–51.
- [67] P. GÅVRUŢÅ, On the Hyers–Ulam–Rassias stability of mappings, In: G. V. Milovanovič (Ed.), *Recent Progress in Inequalities*, Kluwer, 1998, 465–469.
- [68] P. GÅVRUŢÅ, On a problem of G. Isac and Th. M. Rassias concerning the stability of mappings, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 261 (2001), 543–553.
- [69] P. GĂVRUŢĂ and L. CĂDARIU, Inequalities for approximately additive mappings *Bull. Stiint. Univ. Politeh. Timis., Ser. Mat. Fiz.*, **43** (1998), 24–30.
- [70] P. GÅVRUŢÅ, M. HOSSU, D. POPESCU and C. CÅPRÅU, On the stability of mappings and an answer to a problem of Th. M. Rassias, Ann. Math. Blaise Pascal, 2 (1995), 55–60.
- [71] P. GÅVRUŢÅ, S.-M. JUNG and K.-S. LEE, Remarks on the Pexider equations modulo a subgroup, *Far East. J. Math. Sci.*, **19** (2005), 215–222.
- [72] R. GER, On a functional equation related to the theory of jets, *Rocznik Nauk.-Dydakt. Prace Mat.*, 7 (1985), 109–123.
- [73] R. GER, On functional inequalities stemming from stability questions, In: W. Walter (Ed.), *General Inequalities 6*, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1992 227–240.
- [74] R. GER, The singular case in the stability behaviour of linear mappings, *Grazer Math. Ber.*, 316 (1992), 59–70.
- [75] R. GER, Superstability is not natural, Rocznik Nauk.-Dydakt. Prace Mat., 159 (1993), 102–123.
- [76] R. GER, On a factorization of mappings with a prescribed behavior of the Cauchy difference, Ann. Math. Silesianae, 8 (1994), 147–155.
- [77] R. GER, A survey of recent results on stability of functional equations, Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Functional Equations and Inequalities Pedagogical University of Cracow, 1994, 5–36.

- [78] R. GER and P. SEMRL, The stability of the exponential equation, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **124** (1996), 779–787.
- [79] R. GER and P. VOLKMANN, On sums of linear and bounded mappings, *Abh. Math. Sem. Univ. Hamburg*, **68** (1998), 103–108.
- [80] A. GILÁNYI, On the stability of monomial functional equations, *Publ. Math. Debrecen*, **56** (2000), 201–212.
- [81] A. GILÁNYI, Z. KAISER and Zs. PÁLES, Estimates to the stability of functional equations, Aequationes Math., 73 (2007), 125–143.
- [82] T. GLAVOSITS, Generated preorders and equivalences, Acta Acad. Paedagog. Agriensis, Sect. Math. (N.S.), 29 (2002), 95–103.
- [83] T. GLAVOSITS and Á. SZÁZ, Pointwise and global sums and negatives of binary relations, *An. Stiint. Univ. Ovidius Constanța*, **10** (2002), 87–94.
- [84] T. GLAVOSITS and Á. SZÁZ, On the existence of odd selections, Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math., 8 (2004), 155–164.
- [85] T. GLAVOSITS and Á. SZÁZ, A few basic facts on subadditive and superadditive relations, *Tech. Rep., Inst. Math., Univ. Debrecen*, 15 (2004), 1–9.
- [86] E. GLOWACKI and Z. KOMINEK, On stability of the Pexider equation on semigroups, In: Th. M. Rassias and J. Tabor (Eds.), *Stability of mappings of Hyers–Ulam type*, Hadronic Press Collect. Orig. Art., Palm Harbor, FL, 1994, 111–116.
- [87] G. GODINI, Set-valued Cauchy functional equation, *Rev. Roumaine Math. Pures Appl.*, **20** (1975), 1113–1121.
- [88] E. GSELMANN and Á. SZÁZ, An instructive treatment of a generalization of Găvruţă's stability theorem, *Tech. Rep., Inst. Math., Univ. Debrecen*, 7 (2007), 1–16.
- [89] M. D. GUAY, An introduction to preconvexity spaces, Acta Math. Hungar., 105 (2004), 241–248.
- [90] D. H. HYERS, On the stability of the linear functional equation, *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A*, **27** (1941), 222–224.
- [91] D. H. HYERS, The stability of homomorphisms and related topics, In: Th. M. Rassias (Ed.), *Global Analysis Analysis on Manifolds*, Teubner-Texte Math. 57, Leipzig, 1983, 140–153.
- [92] D. H. HYERS, G. ISAC and Th. M. RASSIAS, *Stability of Functional Equations in Several Variables*, Birkhäuser, Boston, 1998.
- [93] D. H. HYERS, G. ISAC and Th. M. RASSIAS, On the asymptoticity aspect of Hyers-Ulam stability of mappings, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **126** (1998), 425–430.
- [94] D. H. HYERS and Th. M. RASSIAS, Approximate homomorphisms, Aequationes Math., 44 (1992), 125–153.
- [95] A. D. IOFFE, A new proof of the equivalence of the Hahn-Banach extension and the least upper bound properties, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 82 (1981), 385–389.
- [96] G. ISAC and Th. M. RASSIAS, On the Hyers-Ulam stability of  $\psi$ -additive mappings, J. Approx. Theory, **72** (1993), 131–137.
- [97] G. ISAC and Th. M. RASSIAS, Functional inequalities for approximately additive mappings, In: Th. M. Rassias and Jo. Tabor (Eds.), *Stability mappings of Hyers–Ulam type*, Hadronic Press Collect. Orig. Art., Palm Harbor, FL, 1994, 117–125.
- [98] G. ISAC and Th. M. RASSIAS, Stability of  $\psi$ -additive mappings: Applications to nonlinear analysis, *Internat J. Math., Math. Sci.*, **19** (1996), 219–228.

- [99] W. JABLOŃSKI and J. SCHWAIGER, Stability of the homogeneity and completeness, Österreich. *Akad. Wiss. Math.-Natur. Kl. Sitzungsber.*, **214** (2005), 111–132.
- [100] K.-W. JUN, D.-S. SHIN and B.-D. KIM, On Hyers–Ulam–Rassias stability of the Pexider equation, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 239 (1999), 20–29.
- [101] S.-M. JUNG, Hyers–Ulam–Rassias stability of functional equations, Dynam. Systems Appl., 6 (1997), 541–566.
- [102] S.-M. JUNG, *Hyers–Ulam–Rassias Stability of Functional Equations in Mathematical Analysis*, Hadronic Press, Palm Harbor, 2001.
- [103] S.-M. JUNG, Local stability of the additive functional equation, *Glasnik Math.*, 38 (2003), 45–55.
- [104] H.-H. KAIRES and P. VOLKMANN, Eine Vektorraumisomorphismus vom Summentyp Seminar LV, 13 (2002), 1–7. (http://www.mathematik.uni-karlsruhe.de/~semlv)
- [105] Z. KAISER, On stability of the monomial functional equation in normed spaces over fields with valuation, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 322 (2006), 1188–1198.
- [106] Z. KAISER and Zs. PÁLES, An example of a stable functional equation when the Hyers method does not work, *J. Ineq. Pure Appl. Math.*, **6** (2005), 1–11.
- [107] G. H. KIM, On the stability of functional equations with square-symmetric operation, *Math. Ineq. Appl.*, **4** (2001), 257–266.
- [108] Z. KOMINEK, On Hyers–Ulam stability of the Pexider equation, *Demonstratio Math.*, **37** (2004), 373–376.
- [109] Z. KOMINEK and J. MATKOWSKI, On stability of the homogeneity condition, *Results Math.*, 27 (1995), 373–380.
- [110] M. KUCZMA, An Introduction to the Theory of Functional Equations and Inequalities, Polish Sci. Publ. and Univ. Šlaski, Warszawa, 1985.
- [111] Y.-H. LEE and K.-W. JUN, On the stability of approximately additive mappings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 128 (1999), 1361–1369.
- [112] L. LOSONCZI, On the stability of Hosszű's functional equation, *Results Math.*, 29 (1996), 342–347.
- [113] Gy. MAKSA, On the stability of a sum form equation, *Results Math.*, 26 (1994), 342–347.
- [114] Gy. MAKSA and Zs. PÁLES, Hyperstability of a class of linear functional equations, *Acta Math. Acad. Paedagog. Nyházi. (N.S.)*, **17** (2001), 107–112.
- [115] J. MALA, Relators generating the same generalized topology, *Acta Math. Hungar*, **60** (1992), 291–297.
- [116] J. MALA and Á. SZÁZ, Equations for families of relations can also be solved, *C. R. Math. Rep. Acad. Sci. Canada*, **12** (1990), 109–112.
- [117] J. MALA and Á. SZÁZ, Properly topologically conjugated relators, *Pure Math. Appl.*, 3 (1992), 119–136.
- [118] J. MALA and Á. SZÁZ, Modifications of relators, Acta Math. Hungar., 77 (1997), 69-81.
- [119] L. MALIGRANDA, Tosio Aoki (1910–1989), In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Banach and Function Spaces, Kyushu Institute of Technology, Kitakyushu, 2006, p. 23.
- [120] L. MALIGRANDA, A result of Tosio Aoki about a generalization of Hyers–Ulam stability of additive functions – a question of priority, *Aequationes Math.*, 75 (2008), 289–296.
- [121] R. METZLER and H. NAKANO, Quasi-norm spaces, Trans. Amar. Math. Soc., 123 (1966), 1-31.

- [122] D. MIHET, The Hyers–Ulam stability for two functional equations in a single variable, *Banach*. *J. Math. Anal.*, **2** (2008), 48–52.
- [123] M. S. MOSLEHIAN and Th. M. RASSIAS, Stability of functional equations in non-Archimedean spaces, *Appl. Anal. Discr. Math.*, 1 (2007), 325–334.
- [124] M. G. MURDESHWAR and S. A. NAIMPALLY, Quasi-Uniform Topological Spaces, Noordhoff, Groningen, 1966.
- [125] H. NAKANO and K. NAKANO, Connector theory, Pacific. J. Math., 56 (1975), 195-213.
- [126] N. NEAMTU, The stability of the Cauchy's functional equation f(x + y) = f(x)f(y), Bul. Stiint. Univ. Politeh. Timis. Ser. Mat. Fiz., **41** (1996), 52–55.
- [127] N. NEAMTU, The stability of the Cauchy's functional equation f(xy) = f(x)f(y), The 7th Symposium of Mathematics and its Applications, "Politehnica" University of Timisoara, 173–176.
- [128] K. NIKODEM, Additive set-valued functions in Hilbert spaces, *Rev. Roumaine Math. Pures Appl.*, 28 (1983), 239–242.
- [129] K. NIKODEM, Additive selections of additive set-valued functions, Univ. u Novom Sadu, Zb. Rad. Prirod.-Mat. Fak., Ser. Mat., 18 (1988), 143–148.
- [130] K. NIKODEM, K-convex and K-concave set-valued functions, Zeszyty Nauk. Politech. Lódz. Mat., 559 (1989), 1–75.
- [131] K. NIKODEM, The stability of the Pexider equation, Ann. Math. Sil., 5 (1991), 91–93.
- [132] K. NIKODEM, Zs. PÁLES and Sz. WASOWICZ, Multifunctions with selections of convex and concave type, *Math. Pannon.*, **11** (2000), 249–260.
- [133] K. NIKODEM and D. POPA, On single-valuedness of set-valued maps satisfying linear inclusions, Banach J. Math. Anal., 3 (2009), 44–51. (http://www.math-analysis.org)
- [134] Zs. PÁLES, Linear selections for set-valued functions and extension of bilinear forms, *Arch. Math.* (*Basel*), **62** (1994), 427–432.
- [135] Zs. PÁLES, Generalized stability of the Cauchy functional equations, *Aequationes Math.*, **56** (1998), 222–232.
- [136] Zs. PÁLES, Hyers–Ulam stability of the Cauchy functional equation on square-symmetric groupoids, *Publ. Math. Debrecen*, 58 (2001), 651–666.
- [137] Zs. PÁLES, P. VOLKMANN and R. D. LUCE, Hyers–Ulam stability of functional equations with a square-symmetric operation, *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA*, 95 (1998), 12772–12775.
- [138] Ch.-G. PARK, On the stability of the linear mapping in Banach modules, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 275 (2002), 711–720.
- [139] Ch.-G. PARK and Th. M. RASSIAS, Additive isometries on Banach spaces, Nonlinear Funct. Anal. Appl., 11 (2006), 793–803.
- [140] Ch.-G. PARK and Th. M. RASSIAS, Isometric additive mappings in quasi-Banach spaces, Nonlinear Funct. Anal. Appl., 12 (2007), 377–385.
- [141] Ch.-G. PARK and Th. M. RASSIAS, Isometric additive mappings in generalized quasi-Banach spaces, *Banach J. Math. Anal.*, 2 (2008), 59–69.
- [142] Ch.-G. PARK and Th. M. RASSIAS, d-isometric linear mappings in linear d-normed Banach spaces, J. Korean Math. Soc., 45 (2008), 249–271.
- [143] G. PATAKI, Suplementary notes to the theory of simple relators, Radovi Mat., 9 (1999), 101–118.

- [144] G. PATAKI, On the extensions, refinements and modifications of relators, *Math. Balcanica*, 15 (2001), 155–186.
- [145] G. PATAKI and Á. SZÁZ, A unified treatment of well-chainedness and connectedness properties, Acta Math. Acad. Paedagog. Nyházi. (N.S.), 19 (2003), 101–165. (http://www.emis.de/ journals/AMAPN/vol19\_2/1.html)
- [146] W. J. PERVIN, Quasi-uniformization of topological spaces, Math. Ann., 47 (1962), 316-317.
- [147] W. J. PERVIN, Foundations of General Topology, Academic Press, New York, 1964.
- [148] Gy. PÓLYA and G. SZEGŐ, Aufgaben und Lehrsätze aus der Analysis I, Verlag von Julius Springer, Berlin, 1925.
- [149] D. POPA, Additive selections of  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -subadditive set valued maps, *Glasnik Mat.*, **36** (2001), 11–16.
- [150] D. POPA, A generalization of Jensen equation for set-valued maps, Seminar on Fixed Point Theory, Cluj-Napoca, 3 (2002), 317–322.
- [151] D. POPA, Functional inclusions on square-symmetric grupoids and Hyers–Ulam stability, *Math. Ineq. Appl.*, 7 (2004), 419–428.
- [152] H. RÅDSTRÖM, One-parameter semigroups of subsets of a real linear space, Ark. Mat., 4 (1960), 87–97.
- [153] V. RADU, The fixed point alternative and the stability of functional equations, *Fixed Point Theory*, 4 (2003), 91–96.
- [154] J. M. RASSIAS, On approximation of approximately linear mappings by linear mappings, J. Funct. Anal., 46 (1982), 126–130.
- [155] J. M. RASSIAS, Solution of a problem of Ulam, J. Approx. Theory, 57 (1989), 268–273.
- [156] J. M. RASSIAS, Mathematical Equations and Inequalities I-II, Athens, Greece 1997, 1999.
- [157] Th. M. RASSIAS, On the stability of the linear mapping in Banach spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 72 (1978), 279–300.
- [158] Th. M. RASSIAS, On a modified Hyers-Ulam sequence, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 158 (1991), 106– 113.
- [159] Th. M. RASSIAS, On the stability of the quadratic functional equation and its applications, *Studia Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math.*, 43 (1998), 89–124.
- [160] Th. M. RASSIAS, Stability and set-valued functions, In: Analysis and Topology, World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 1998, 585–614.
- [161] Th. M. RASSIAS, On the stability of functional equations and a problem of Ulam, *Acta Applicandae Math.*, **62** (2000), 23–130.
- [162] Th. M. RASSIAS, The problem of S. M. Ulam for approximately multiplicative mappings, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 246 (2000), 352–378.
- [163] Th. M. RASSIAS, On the stability of functional equations in Banach spaces, *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, 251 (2000), 264–284.
- [164] Th. M. RASSIAS, Functional Equations and Inequalities, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2000.
- [165] Th. M. RASSIAS, On the stability of functional equations originated by a problem of Ulam, *Mathematica (Cluj)*, **44** (2002), 39–75.
- [166] Th. M. RASSIAS, Functional Equations, Inequalities and Applications, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2003.

- [167] Th. M. RASSIAS and D. ANDRICA, *Inequalities and Applications*, Cluj University Press, Cluj-Napoca, 2008.
- [168] Th. M. RASSIAS and P. ŠEMRL, On the behavior of mappings which do not satisfy Hyers–Ulam stability, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 114 (1992), 989–993.
- [169] Th. M. RASSIAS and P. ŠEMRL, On the Hyers–Ulam stability of linear mappings, *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, **173** (1993), 325–338.
- [170] Th. M. RASSIAS and J. TABOR, What is left of Hyers–Ulam stability?, *J. Nat. Geom.*, **1** (1992), 65–69.
- [171] Th. M. RASSIAS and J. TABOR, On approximately additive mappings in Banach spaces, In: Th. M. Rassias and Jo. Tabor (Eds.), *Stability mappings of Hyers–Ulam type, Hadronic Press Collect. Orig. Art.*, Palm Harbor, FL, 1994, 127–134.
- [172] Th. M. RASSIAS and J. TABOR, Stability of Mappings of Hyers–Ulam Type, Hadronic Press Collect. Orig. Art., Hadronic Press Inc., Palm Harbor, Fl, 1994.
- [173] J. RÄTZ, On approximately additive mappings, In: E. F. Beckenbach (Ed.), *General Inequalities* 2 (Oberwolfach, 1978), Int. Ser. Num. Math. (Birkhäuser, Basel-Boston), **47** (1980), 233–251.
- [174] B. RODRÍGUEZ-SALINAS and L. BOU, A Hahn-Banach theorem for arbitrary vector spaces, *Boll. Un. Mat. Ital.*, **10** (1974), 390–393.
- [175] M. SABLIK, A functional congruence revisited *Grazer Math. Ber.*, **316** (1992), 181–200.
- [176] F. C. SÁNCHEZ, Some remarks stemming from Ulam's problem about nearly additive mappings, *Aequationes Math.*, **56** (1998), 233–242.
- [177] F. C. SÁNCHEZ, Stability of additive mappings on large sets, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 128 (1999), 1071–1077.
- [178] J. SCHWAIGER, Remark 12, Aequationes Math., 35 (1988), 120–121.
- [179] J. SCHWAIGER, The functional equation of homogeneity and its stability property, Österreich. *Akad. Wiss. Math.-Natur. Kl. Sitzungsber.*, **205** (1996), 3–12.
- [180] N. A. SHANIN, On separation in topological spaces, C. R. Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.), **38** (1943), 110–113.
- [181] F. SKOF, On the stability of functional equations on a restricted domain and a related topic, In: Th. M. Rassias and Jo. Tabor (Eds.), *Stability of mappings of Hyers–Ulam type*, Hadronic Press Collect. Orig. Art., Palm Harbor, FL, 1994, 141–151.
- [182] P. ŠEMRL, The stability of approximately additive functions, In: Th. M. Rassias and Jo. Tabor (Eds.), *Stability mappings of Hyers–Ulam type*, Hadronic Press Collect. Orig. Art., Palm Harbor, FL, 1994, 135–140.
- [183] P. ŠEMRL, Approximately linear functionals on Hilbert spaces J. Math. Anal. Appl., 226 (1998), 466–472.
- [184] A. SMAJDOR, Additive selections of superadditive set-valued functions, Aequationes Math., 39 (1990), 121–128.
- [185] A. SMAJDOR, The stability of the Pexider equation for set-valued functions, *Rocznik Nauk.*-*Dydakt. Prace Mat.*, **13** (1993), 277–286.
- [186] A. SMAJDOR and W. SMAJDOR, Multi-valued solutions of a functional equation, Ann. Polon. Math., 41 (1983), 89–97.
- [187] W. SMAJDOR, Subadditive set-valued functions, *Glasnik Mat.*, 21 (1986), 343–348.

- [188] W. SMAJDOR, Subadditive and subquadratic set-valued functions, Prace Nauk. Univ. Slask. Katowic., 889 (1987), 1–73.
- [189] W. SMAJDOR and J. SZCZAWIŃSKA, A theorem of the Hahn–Banach type Demonstratio Math., 28 (1995), 155–160.
- [190] Á. SZÁZ, Basic tools and mild continuities in relator spaces, Acta Math. Hungar., **50** (1987), 177–201.
- [191] Á. SZÁZ, Directed, topological and transitive relators, Publ. Math. Debrecen, 35 (1988), 179– 196.
- [192] Á. SZÁZ, Relators, Nets and Integrals, Unfinished doctoral thesis, Debrecen, 1991, 1–126.
- [193] Á. SZÁZ, Inverse and symmetric relators, Acta Math. Hungar., 60 (1992), 157–176.
- [194] Á. SZÁZ, Structures derivable from relators, *Singularité*, **3** (1992), 14–30.
- [195] Á. SZÁZ, Cauchy nets and completeness in relator spaces, Colloq. Math. Soc. János Bolyai, 55 (1993), 479–489.
- [196] Á. SZÁZ, Neighbourhood relators, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud., 4 (1995), 449–465.
- [197] Á. SZÁZ, Uniformly, proximally and topologically compact relators, *Math. Pannon.*, **8.** (1997), 103–116.
- [198] Á. SZÁZ, The intersection convolution of relations and the Hahn–Banach type theorems, *Ann. Polon. Math.*, **69** (1998), 235–249.
- [199] Á. SZÁZ, Translation relations, the building blocks of compatible relators, *Math. Montisnigri*, 12 (2000), 135–156.
- [200] Á. SZÁZ, Preseminorm generating relations, Publ. Elektrotehn. Fak. Univ. Beograd, Ser. Mat., 12 (2001), 16–34.
- [201] Á. SZÁZ, Somewhat continuity in a unified framework for continuities of relations, *Tatra Mt. Math. Publ.*, 24 (2002), 41–56.
- [202] A. SZÁZ, Upper and lower bounds in relator spaces, Serdica, 29 (2003), 239–270.
- [203] Á. SZÁZ, Linear extensions of relations between vector spaces, *Comment. Math. Univ. Carolin.*, 44 (2003), 367–385.
- [204] Á. SZÁZ, Relationships between translation and additive relations, *Acta Acad. Paedagog. Agriensis, Sect. Math. (N.S.)*, **30** (2003), 179–190.
- [205] Á. SZÁZ, Foundations of the theory of vector relators, *Tech. Rep., Inst. Math., Univ. Debrecen*, **10** (2003), 1–58.
- [206] Á. SZÁZ, Galois-type connections on power sets and their applications to relators, *Tech. Rep., Inst. Math., Univ. Debrecen*, **2** (2005), 1–38.
- [207] Á. SZÁZ, Galois-type connections and continuities of pairs of relations, *Tech. Rep., Inst. Math., Univ. Debrecen*, **5** (2005), 1–27.
- [208] Á. SZÁZ, Lower semicontinuity properties of relations in relator spaces, Tech. Rep., Inst. Math., Univ. Debrecen, 4 (2006), 1–52.
- [209] Á. SZÁZ, An extension of an additive selection theorem of Z. Gajda and R. Ger, *Tech. Rep., Inst. Math., Univ. Debrecen*, **8** (2006), 1–24.
- [210] Á. SZÁZ, Minimal structures, generalized topologies, and ascending systems should not be studied without generalized uniformities, *Filomat (Nis)*, **21** (2007), 87–97.

- [211] Á. SZÁZ, Applications of fat and dense sets in the theory of additive functions, *Tech. Rep., Inst. Math., Univ. Debrecen*, **3** (2007), 1–29.
- [212] Á. SZÁZ, An instructive treatment of a generalization of Hyers's stability theorem, In: Th. M. Rassias and D. Andrica (Eds.), *Inequalities and Applications*, Cluj University Press, Cluj-Napoca, 2008, 245–271.
- [213] Á. SZÁZ and G. SZÁZ, Additive relations, Publ. Math. Debrecen, 20 (1973), 259–272.
- [214] L. SZÉKELYHIDI, On a theorem of Baker, Lawrence and Zorzito, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 84 (1982), 95–96.
- [215] L. SZÉKELYHIDI, Note on a stability theorem, Canad. Math. Bull., 25 (1982), 500-501.
- [216] L. SZÉKELYHIDI, Remark 17, Aequationes Math., 29 (1985), 95–96.
- [217] L. SZÉKELYHIDI, Note on Hyers's theorem, C. R. Math. Rep. Acad. Sci. Canada, 8 (1986), 127–129.
- [218] L. SZÉKELYHIDI, Stability of some functional equations in economics, *Rend. Semin. Mat. Fis. Milano*, 58 (1988), 169–176.
- [219] L. SZÉKELYHIDI, An abstract superstability theorem, Abh. Math. Sem. Univ. Hamburg, 59 (1989), 81–83.
- [220] L. SZÉKELYHIDI, The stability of homogeneous functions, *Jour. Univ. Kuwait (Sci.)*, **20** (1993), 159–164.
- [221] L. SZÉKELYHIDI, On a characterization of linear operators, *Acta Math. Hungar.*, **71** (1996), 293–295.
- [222] L. SZÉKELYHIDI, Ulam's problem, Hyers's solution and to where they led, In: Th. M. Rassias and Jo. Tabor (Eds.), *Functional Equations and Inequalities, Math. Appl.*, **518**, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2000, 259–285.
- [223] J. TABOR, Remark 18, Aequationes Math., 29 (1985), 96.
- [224] J. TABOR, On approximately linear mappings, In: Th. M. Rassias and J. Tabor (Eds.), *Stability of mappings of Hyers–Ulam type*, Hadronic Press Collect. Orig. Art., Palm Harbor, FL, 1994, 157–163.
- [225] J. J. TABOR, Stability of the Cauchy equation with variable bound, Publ. Math. Debrecen, 51 (1997), 165–173.
- [226] J. J. TABOR, Monomial selections of set-valued functions, *Publ. Math. Debrecen*, **56** (2000), 33–42.
- [227] J. J. TABOR, Ideally convex sets and Hyers theorem, Funkcialaj Ekvacioj, 43 (2000), 121–125.
- [228] J. J. TABOR, Hyers theorem and the cocycle property, In: Z. Daróczy and Zs. Páles (Eds.), *Functional Equations Results and Advances*, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 2002, 275–290.
- [229] J. J. TABOR and J. TABOR, Homogeneity is superstable, *Publ. Math. Debrecen*, **45** (1994), 123–130.
- [230] J. J. TABOR and J. TABOR, Restricted stability and shadowing, Publ. Math. Debrecen, 73 (2008), 49–58.
- [231] S. M. ULAM, A Collection of Mathematical Problems, Interscience Publ., New York, 1960.
- [232] S. M. ULAM, Problems in Modern Mathematics, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1964.
- [233] P. VOLKMANN, On the stability of the Cauchy equation, *Leaflets Math.*, Pécs, 1998, 150–151.

- [234] P. VOLKMANN, Zur stabilität der Cauchyschen und der Hosszűschen Functionalgleichung, Seminar LV, 1 (1998), 1–5. (http://www.mathematik.uni-karlsruhe.de/~semlv)
- [235] P. VOLKMANN, Zur Rolle der ideal konvexen Mengen bei der Stabilität der Cauchyschen Funktionalgleichung Seminar LV, 6 (1999), 1-6. (http://www.mathematik. uni-karlsruhe.de/~semlv)
- [236] P. VOLKMANN, The single-variable approach to stability problems for functional equations in several variables, *Aeguationes Math.*, **69** (2005), 179.
- [237] L. WAELBROEK, Topological vector spaces and Algebras, Lect. Notes. Math., 230, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1971.
- [238] D. WOLNA, The stability of monomial functions on a restricted domain, Aequationes Math., 72 (2006), 100–109.
- [239] D. ZHANG and H.-X. CAO, Stability of group and ring homomorphisms, *Math. Ineq. Appl.*, 9 (2006), 521–528.